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1 - Chairman's Statement
Thisreport coverstheeleven month periodfrom 1 May2018to 31 March2019,an excitingperiod
forfinnCap Group pic ("finnCap", the "Group" orthe "Firm"), We started the period principally as a
public market focused organisation servicing the needs of quoted companies. Following the
acquisition of Cavendish Corporate Finance ("Cavendish") in December 2018 and the development

of newrevenue lines,weare nowa full-servicefinancialservicesgroupfor ambitiousgrowth
companies. The combination has started well.

With our IPOon AIM in December2018,wejoined many of our retained corporate clients on the
public markets and continueto providethem and private companieswith adviceon public and
private fundraisings, IPOs, debt, mergers and acquisitions, and technical public market bids;
effectively servicingthe lifetimefinancialneeds of a highgrowth business.
Ourfinancial results, whichare slightly aheadof management's expectations, reflect the
performance offinnCap Ltdfor 11 months (due to the alignment of yearends), and for Cavendishfor

just underfour months (sincethe dateof its acquisition).Setout belowisa summaryofthe Group's
performance for the period, and that of its constituent parts, to allow readers to more clearly
understand the financial performance of the enlarged business.
Group
finnCap Ltd

Revenue

Cavendish

Cavendish

Cavendish

IFRS accounts

11 months to

8 months

4 months

12 months to

11 months to

31 March 2019

pre-IPO*

post-IPO

31 March 2019*

31 March 2019

21, 287

11,568

3, 229

14, 797

24, 516

Profit before taxation

and non-recurring
items

4, 294

*Unaudited

The current scale of the combined business can be seen if the performance offinnCap Ltd is
annualised and combinedwith the unaudited outturn for the full 12 months for Cavendish. This

showsthe Group generatingjust over£38m of revenue (although we do not expect Cavendishto
perform as strongly in the current financialyear).
Weare delightedto report that we are clearlyseeingthe benefits of combiningthe two businesses.

EveryyearfinnCap'scorporateclients haveundertakenacquisitionsanddisposals,ordebt raisings,
that we have previously been unable to service. Similarly, Cavendish has been asked to consider
flotations and fundraisings alongside disposals for their clients that it was unable to execute. As a

result of combining these two businesses, and in January 2019, adding a buy-side advisory service,
the enlargedGroup can now offerthe full suite offinancialservicesto all clients, andwe have

alreadyseenthe firstexamplesofthese revenuesynergies. Wehavecompleted ourfirst buy-side
mandate and we have assisted an existing finnCap corporate client with debt advice. We also have a

good number of IPO leads from Cavendish and its associated overseas offices through its
membership ofOaklins.

Weare lookingto expandour servicesfurther:to cement our position as one of a small number of
firms ableto providea full suite of advisoryandexecution servicesto ourtarget clients, whilst
building strong long-term relationships.
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Dividend

Immediately prior to flotation, the Board offinnCap Ltd declared an interim dividend of0. 207p per

share. Postflotation,the BoardoffinnCapGroup picdeclaredan interim dividendof0. 148pper
share. On the backofthe performance in the Period,the Board is now declaringan interim dividend

forthefinancialperiod ended31 March2020of0.355p pershare.Thedividendwill be paidto
shareholderson 9 August 2019with an associated record date of 19July2019and ex-dividenddate
of 18July 2019.The Board does not intendto declare a final dividendfor the Period, or in future
financialperiods, asthe Company hasdeterminedthat the timely payment of dividendsfor its
shareholders(and in particularemployeeshareholders) is important.
As set out in the Group's AIM Admission Document, the Board has adopted a dividend policy to
reflect the Group's performance during the financial year, the expectation of future cash flow

generation and its long-term earnings potential. The Board intends that the Group pay two
dividends each year initially aiming for a 5 per cent yield based on the IPO price of 28p per share for
the yearended31 March2020 (excludingthe above interim dividend of 0.355p per share), withthe
total split in the proportion 30/70 between them.

Investors should note that there can be no guarantee of any dividend payment and the Board may
revise the Group's dividend policy at any time.

Commercial and Regulatory Environment
Duringthe period under review, the public markets have been volatile with a marked decline over

the course of November and December 2018, whilst the longer-term shift of raising growth capital
from the public marketsto alternative privatesourcesof fundraisinghasslowly continued.
The FTSESmall Cap index, in the first eight months ofthe period, depreciated by 15%, beforethen
rallying by 10% in the last three months. As such, much of the period was spent in a declining
market that impacted on the market's enthusiasm for primary fundraisings. Alternative sources of
funds (private equity, venture capital, angels, P2P or public sector) have continued to become more
popular (approximately £10bn was funded from such sources in 2018, compared to £5. 5bn raised on
AIM). To best service their clients, financial intermediaries need to be able to advise on all sources of

funding and investment.

On the publicequity markets, dailytradingvolumes andvalues remained relatively consistent in
2018 compared to the previous year but execution commission rates were much lower as a result of
MiFID II, which we further comment on below. M&A volumes benefited from concerns about the

impact of Brexit and the political risk of a future increase in the taxation of capital gains.

TheFirm is regulatedandoverseen bya varietyofdifferentregulators, exchangesand non-statutory
bodies, and the cost of risk management and compliance continues to increase. The Group
continuesto increasestaffing levels and traininggroup-wideto ensurethat that it complieswith all
regulatory requirements and best practice and maintainsa culture that is appropriateforthe
regulatory environment in which it operates. The Board has also established a very active Riskand
Compliance Committee.
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Thecurrent periodwasthefirst complete period inwhichtheGroupwasrequiredto complywith
MiFIDII which, amongotherthings, required the separation of chargesfor researchand execution.
Our responsewasto makethe researchthat we produce in respect of our corporate clients free to

all, butto continueto chargeinstitutionalclientsforaccessto our researchanalysts,their models
and non-client research.

We do not believe that the market properly recognises the differences between the large cap
market (which is generally highly liquid and where execution is typically automated) and the smaller
companies' market (where matching buyers and sellers is more dependent on local market

knowledgeand relationships,andtherefore is more manualandcostly)therebyleadingto a
significant underpayment for the trading services offered. The Firm has made a material investment
in technology to automate the exchange of information with institutional investors that MiFID II

requires, but this has added further cost to the execution oftrades in the smaller companies'
market.

Theperiodsawthe implementation ofsystemsand processesto preparethe Firmforthe impactof
the EU General Data Protection Regulation. The Group is also currently preparing for the arrival of
the FCA's Senior Managers and Certification Regime in December 2019.
Ambition Nation

Ambition Nation is finnCap's nationwide campaign that explores the key issues facing the UK'S
ambitious growth businesses, spotlights fast-growth companies from around the country, convenes
the entrepreneurs who are building these businesses and thereby encourages future growth. It
centres particularly around how leaders can navigate the current investment landscape and access
the capital they need to thrive.

The Ambition Nation series of events drives content and insights to inform, inspire and fuel business
growth. It provides the opportunity to reach out to a wider business community and convene
influential individualsfrom acrossourtarget market. Ultimately it drives differentiated lead
generation by building a thriving community ofCEOs, business leaders and investors.

Duringthefinancialperiod,the Firm hostedtheannualAmbition Nationsummit,focusingon
"BuildingAnAmbitiousFuture";the bi-annualFemaleLeadersseries in September2018,focusingon
the fundinggap; andOnTrack in April 2019, discussingkey indicators ofgrowth. Acrossthese
events, we welcomed contributionsfrom over 30 speakers and800attendees. In 2019/20,we are
lookingto expandthe Female Leadersseries regionally;to launch our DrivingAmbition film series in
August 2019; as well as to host our inaugural Ambition Nation Listed 50 Awards in October 2019.
Board

The Board has evolved overthe period. On the completion ofthe acquisitionof Cavendishin
December 2018, Lord Leigh of Hurley (Cavendish's co-founding partner) and Joe Stelzer (its
Managing Partner) both joined the Board as executive directors, along with Andy Hogarth and
Barbara Firth as independent non-executive directors. The Board is notably stronger. As announced
in January 2019, Joe Stelzer has stepped awayfrom the Board and out of the day-to-day

managementofthe businessfor medicalreasons,and hisresponsibilitieshavebeenassumedby
Tom Hayward (Group CFO).

The current Board of Directors holds in total 47% of the issued share capital of the Group.
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People
As a financial services firm, finnCap's main assets are its reputation and its people. We recognise the
huge commitment that our staff have made to the firm, both in terms of their time and their

financialinvestment, andwethankthem forthis. Betweenthem, the Boardandemployees own
78% of the Group. External shareholders can take comfort in the level of investment that the team
has in the business and, accordingly, their interest in its commercial success.

We consider our culture to be one of our strongest differentiators. We are focused on a highly
collegiate approach which brings many benefits, including higher productivity, lower staff turnover,
and helping to reduce many of the business's risks. Our remuneration policy is formulated to

encouragethisapproach,andhenceseeksto deliverthe best long-term resultforthe Group.
finnCap'sEmployee BenefitTrust hasbuilt a material holdingofsharesin finnCapoverthe years,
and as the share price has risen overthis time, there is now an accumulated value in the EBTof

£2. 1m measuredusingthe period-endshareprice. Thesesharesareavailableto satisfyexisting
options and to further incentivise and reward staff, at no cash cost to the Group.
Outlook

Sincethe start ofthe currentfinancialyear,we havecontinuedto trade profitably,winningnew
high-quality corporate clients and have executed 19 transactions. In addition, we have continued to

recruit high calibre individuals across the firm, particularly within the debt advisory team.
The market backdropremains difficult, particularly with Brexitstill to be resolved, but we have a
healthy pipelineoftransactionsfor the coming months, whichare spreadover a broad numberof
sectors and group services, making us less reliant on the public market equity issuance environment

andgivingusconfidencein our portfolio approach. Wetherefore lookforwardto updatingthe
marketfurtherfollowingcompletion ofthe first halfofthe financialyear

Jon Moulton
Non-ExecutiveChairman

8 July2019
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2 - Strategic Report
finnCap Group pic is a full-service financial services firm for ambitious growth companies. It
currently providesthese companieswith accessto the private and public equity and debt markets
and advice on acquisitions, disposals and public market bids. The Group's long-term strategy is to

furtherdeveloptheseservicesto offera full suiteof best-in-classadvisoryservicesto itstarget
market.

The Group's revenues are primarily generated in the UK, although a number of its corporate clients
and institutional investors are based overseas.

The Group had 135 employees at the period end.

Business Model and Strategy
The revenue model for the Group is based on
(i) retainer fees;

(ii) tradingcommissions, research payments and market making;and
(iii) deal fees for fund raisings and advisory mandates which are either a percentage of funds
raised or deal value, a fixed fee or a combination of both

The Directors believe that the retainer fees and trading revenues provide a stable base which

underpinsthe Group'sturnover. TheGroup's principal costs are its people, premises and IT
infrastructure - the largest element by a significant margin is the cost of its people.
Equity Capital Markets and Corporate Finance

The team focuses on the UK equity markets and provides advice mainly to quoted companies across

a widerangeoftransactions.Projects includetakingcompaniespublicon UKequitymarkets, raising
equity finance in the public markets, and advising on public company takeovers, mergers and

acquisitions,disposalsand restructurings. Inadditionto transactionalwork,theteam providesdayto-day advice to quoted companies on market sentiment and likely reactions to market
communications and strategy updates based on an extensive base of institutional investor contacts.
The team is also responsible for the active promotion offinnCap's client base to institutional fund
managers.

Theteam operatesacrossa varietyof industrysectors, includingtechnology, life sciences,
industrials, support services, consumer, mining, energy and financials.

finnCapis authorisedbythe LondonStockExchangeto act asa nominatedadviserallowingit to
adviseissuersseekingadmissionto, andtradingon, AIM. Currently, the Corporate Financeteam acts

asnominatedadviserto 90AIM companies.finnCapisalso authorisedbythe UKListingAuthorityto
act as sponsor to issuers seeking a listing on, or conducting transactions on, the Official List and is a
NEX corporate adviser and a member firm of the London Stock Exchange.
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Equity Salesand Trading

TheEquitySalesandTradingteam serves institutionalclients includinglong-onlyfunds,specialist
investors,wealthmanagers,and hedgefunds both inthe UKand Europe.Theteam seeksto target
thefull breadthofthe investor universeto createthe right balancebetweenstable, long-term
investors and those who provide trading liquidity on behalf offinnCap's retained corporate clients.
Theteam additionallyofferstrading ideasand strategiesfor institutional clients, and makes a market

in over 180securities. Theteamsupportsthe otherservicesprovidedto the Group's clients by
providing real time information on trading in retained corporate clients' securities.
Research

The Research team publishes daily research reports to generate and maintain institutional interest in

the securities ofthe Group's retainedcorporate clients and other equity securities. Theteam is

particularly focused on the technology, support services, life sciences, energy, industrials, mining,
consumerandfinancialsectors andspecialsituations.Thefocusis predominantlyon companies
quoted on a UK equity capital market with a market capitalisation of between £10 million and £500

million. The team delivers active coverage of over 150 securities that includes covering results,
corporate actions, morning notes, sectorquarterlies andthematic pieces. Theteam performed

strongly inthe 2019Extelawards(includingbeingranked 1stand2ndrespectivelyfor its research
coverage of the Technology and Industrials sectors).
finnCap Slide Rule Fund

In 2017, the finnCap Research team developed the Slide Rule, a proprietary research product
designed to simplify the identification of the best companies in the UKsmall/mid-cap sector by
makinga quantitative assessmentofthe relative potential of each company. Usingthis
methodology, in 2018 finnCap launched the finnCap Slide Rule UCITS Fund, an open-ended fund with

theobjectiveofdeliveringcapitalgrowththrougha largelyquantitativeapproachto investingin UK
quoted smaller companies. This division is currently not profitable due to the limited funds under
management.

The Directors are encouraged by the recent performance of the fund and believe that with

continuedstrong results, particularly once a 36-monthtrack record is established,furtherfundswill

beattractedfrom both privateclient platformsandfrom institutionalcapital. Giventhe relatively
fixed cost base of this division, the Directors believe that, if such additional funds are secured so

providing the fund with recurring profits and cash flow, there is an opportunity to expand into new
markets. The Directors believe that the Slide Rule analysis tool is applicable to a variety of global
growth markets.
Investment Companies

TheCompanystartedan InvestmentCompaniesteam in 2016to providea full-serviceofferingof
trading, sales, research and corporate finance advice to quoted funds, with a strong focus on the
emerging market and alternative funds sectors. The team currently has 10 retained investment
company clients.
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Private Growth Capital

finnCaphasa teamfocusedon raisingfunds between£2 million and£50millionfor private
companies and funds, in order to scale up existing businesses that have clear commercial traction.

finnCaphasadvisedontransactionsraisingapproximately£109million for8 companiessince itsfirst
private fundraising in 2016.
M&AAdvisory

The Cavendish M&Aadvisory team specialises in pre-sale exit planning, exit reviews and the delivery
ofsell-sideadvisorymandates.Thisactivityextendstothefull managementofthesales processand
identification ofthe most appropriate purchaser for private businesses. Through its membership of
Oaklins,the internationalassociationof 60 M&A houses in 40 countries,the team hasaccessto both

buyersandsellersofbusinessesworld-wideand hasparticularexpertisein technology, media,
business services, consumer/retail, financial services, industrials and healthcare. Over the last three

financialyearsthe team hasadvisedon an averageof 21transactions per annumfor businesseswith

an enterprisevaluetypicallybetween£10million and£250million. Cavendishtypicallycharges a
retainer at the commencement of a mandate and a success fee based on the value achieved on sale
with incremental fees paid asvalue increases.

PLCM&AAdvisory
As part of its existingcorporatefinancebusiness,finnCap hasadvised its retainedclients on
acquisitions, in addition to providing this service to other parties. Nearly all of these mandates have

involved advice on the City Codewith the number of mandates for non-retained clients increasing
materially in the last three years.
DebtAdvisory

Cavendish hasa debt advisorycapabilitywhichcontributed £0.3m to Cavendish'sunaudited revenue

forthe yearended31 March2019.Sincethe acquisitionand IPO,the Grouphasexpandedthis
serviceto includeadviceto finnCap'scorporate clientson theirdebtraisings,and on buy-sideM&A
advisory. TheGroupconsidersthe opportunityto besignificantandhaveinvested in recruiting
further high-calibreteam members.
Strategy

TheGroup'sobjective isto becomethe leadingfull-service providerto ambitiouspubliclyquoted
and private companies.The Group hasset three core objectivesto drive growth:
(i) capitaliseon the existingsuccessful EquityCapital Markets platform;
(ii) expandthe service offeringto clients and into new markets; and
(iii) increaseits reachthrough branddevelopment
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Financial Performance and Position
Equity Capital Markets
The equity capital markets division of the Group delivered £21. 3m of turnover in the 11 month

period to 31 March 2019 (12 months to 30 April 2018: £22. 1m). This was a very good performance
given the market conditions in November and December, the impact of MiFID II on trading incomes

acrossthe marketandthe resultingimpactonthe performanceofour peergroup. The individual
contributors to this performance are considered below.

ffeta/nerrevenues-Totalfeesfrom retainersinthe 11monthsended31March2019were£5.9m,
or a monthlyaveragerateof£538k. Thiscomparesto £5.7m inthe 12 monthsended30thApril
2018, or a monthly averagerate of £477k, andtherefore represents growth on a like-for-like basisof
13%. During the year we won 18 new clients (with an average market capitalisation at the date of
take on of£80m), including Revolution Bars Group Pic, Gateley (Holdings) pic, Mothercare Pic,
Filtronic Pic, Grit Real Estate Income Group Limited, M. P. Evans Group Pic and Shoe Zone Pic, whilst

16clientswere lost mainlyasa result ofdelistingandtakeovers. Thetotal marketcapitalisationof
our retained clients at the period end was£10,858m, andthe averagewas£86m. Ofnote is the
growth in our investment companies' mandate from 6 to 10 retained clients.

Transactions- Total fees receivedfrom transactions in the 11 month periodto 31 March 2019were

£12.0m (12 monthsto 30April 2018:£11.3m). Notabledealscompleted duringthe period included:
Public Market Fundraisings

.

actingasfinancialadviserandsole brokerto Ideagenraising£30mto support an acquisition

.

acting as sponsor to PPHEon its move to the Official List and then acting asjoint broker on a
£149m block trade

.

actingasfinancialadviserandsole brokerto Altitude raising£9mto support its working
capital needs and to make an acquisition

.

actingasfinancialadviserandsole brokerto DXGroupin a balancesheetrestructuring,
whitewash and fundraising of£4. 8m

.

acting asfinancial adviserand sole broker to Angle on its £12. 7m working capital fundraising

PLCM&A Advisory
.

acting as financial adviser to Taptica on its £135m offer for RhythmOne

.

acting asjoint Rule 3 adviser to Tax Systems on its £110m acquisition by Bowmark

.

acting as financial adviserto Ligland Pharmaceuticalson its £33m offerfor Vernalis

.

acting as Nomad andjoint broker to Cityfibre on its£538m acquisition by consortium of
infrastructure investors

Investment Companies

.

actingasfinancialadviserandjoint UKplacingagentonthe IPOofGRITRealEstateraising

.

$132m
acting as sponsor for the restructuring, tender offer and move to Official List for Vietnam
Holding

Private Company

.

advising DivideBuy on a £62m financing in the form of debt and equity to finance the
working capital requirements for growth
8
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Trading - The period under review wasthe first to reflect the material full impact of MiFID II on the

tradingsideofour business.Whereastradingrevenues(from both agencyand principaltrading) had
been relatively consistentforthe lastthreeyearsat approximately£5m, in the current periodthese
declinedto £3.4m (12 monthsto 30April 2018:£5. 1m). Thedecreaseisthe product ofslightlylower
volumesanda loweraveragerate ofcommissionasa result of MiFIDII, offset partiallybythe
introduction of research payments.
M&AAdvisory

Cavendish had its best ever year for the 12 months to 31 March 2019, closing 28 deals and
generating £14. 8m (unaudited) of fees (2018: £10. 2m). £3. 2m of fees is included in the financial
statements for the four months after the acquisition. Notable transactions included:
.

the sale ofTpay to Helios Partners.

.

the dualtracksale/IPOprocessforZenith HygieneGroupthat resulted in its saleto Diversey

.

the sale of RapidataServices Limitedto AccessGroup

.
.

the sale of Indigo Group Holdings to Growth Capital Partners
a dual-track debt/equity process for Manolete Partners

.

advisingon the successful bid by InflexionforCreative Parking.Thiswasthe Group'sfirst
buysidetransaction of this kind

As stated in our Admission Document, we believe the Cavendish performance for the period is

significantlybetterthanthe businesswould normallygenerate,and in partwasduetothe unusually
high level of inbounddeal flow resultingfrom concernsaboutthe political environment and
potential changes to the future taxation of entrepreneurs. We do not consider this level of

performanceto besustainablein more normaltradingconditions. Ourstrategyforfuturegrowthis
to focus on a sectoral approachto both lead generation andtransactionexecution, recruitment of

furthersectoralandgeographicspecialists,cross referrals betweenthetwo sidesofthe Groupand
brand development.
finnCap Group

Although the historic performance of the two sides ofthe business was separated out above for
clarity, significantinvestment is beingmadeto integratethem, in orderto realisethe revenue
synergies that are the rationale for the original business combination.
To date, this has already resulted in:

.

advising on a £5. Om debt facility for Universe from HSBC, to part-fund its acquisition of
Camden Technology Investments Limited. This was the first debt advisory mandate for the
Group from an existing finnCap Ltd client, and demonstrates the potential of rolling out this
service to its existing corporate clients

.

advisingon the successful bid by Inflexionfor Creative Parking. In addition,the Firm are
currently working on two more buyside mandates

.
.

the first signed disposal mandate for Cavendish that was introduced by finnCap
a number of private fundraisings for finnPrivate which were introduced by Cavendish

.

a twin track sale/IPO

.

three potential IPOs that were introduced to the Group by Oaklins, the international
network of M&A houses of which Cavendish is a member
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Noneofthe abovewould havebeen possibleforthetwo businessesactingindependently,andas
such are incremental revenues to the Group.

As part of the integration and expansion of services to the clients of both sides of the business, the
Group is making a material investment in further resources. The debt advisory team has been
expandedin orderto better servicethe Group's retained corporate client base, and discussionsare

beingheldwitha numberofsectorandgeographicspecialiststo strengthenthe Group'sorigination
and execution capability.

Going forward, finnCap Group is positioning itself to be a fully integrated group offering a full suite
of services to ambitious growth companies.
Financial Position

TheGroup's cashand cashequivalents, net of borrowings, improved duringthe periodfrom £3. 8m
to £4. 7m. The overdraft balance at 30 April 2018 related to the funding of unsettled trades by
Pershing through our Model A Settlement Agreement and as at 31 March 2019, there was no such
balance.

Net assetsgrewfrom £7.3m to £20.9m, althoughthe movement was mainly as a result ofthe
goodwillcreatedthroughthe acquisitionof Cavendishduringthe period. The Board's intention isto

growthe Firm'snet assetsto fundfuturegrowthinthe comingyearsthroughthe retention ofprofits
after funding dividends.

10
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Key Performance Indicators
The Group monitors and manages its performance through the use ofvarious Key Performance

Indicators,at variousdifferentlevelswithinthe business. Themain KPIsusedto assessthe Group's
performance as a whole over a financial period are as below.
In each case, unless otherwise stated:

.

the statistic for the current period is based on the performance ofthe Group as consolidated
in its IFRS accounts (i. e. with finnCap Ltd's performance for 11 months and Cavendish's for
the four-month period from the date of its acquisition); and

.

and the prior year statistic is based on purely the performance of finnCap Ltd.

Annualised average revenue per head

Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019

£'000

30 April 2018
£'000

250

241

The annualised average revenue per head is a KPIas it incorporates both the Group's income and its
main cost. The ability to pay staff appropriate remuneration is fundamental to the success of the
Group. In the current period from the date of acquisition of Cavendish, the statistic was not
materially different between the two sides of the business.

Average monthly retainer fees

Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30 April 2018
£'000

538

477

TheGroupisfocussedon growingits retainerincome,asa reliablerevenuestreamthat helpsto
reduce the risk in the Group's business model.

Completed M&A transactions (by Cavendish
in the full relevant period)

Year ended

Year ended

31 March2019

31 March 2018

Number

Number

28

20

This was a very strong yearfor Cavendish in terms of the number of transactions it completed, and
(with a number of them benefitting from ratchets based on the negotiated exit price) the revenue it
generated from them. Ten transactions were completed post acquisition.

11
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Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30 April 2018
£'000

15, 179

11, 325

Total deal fees

Total deal fees of£15. 2m in the 11 month period, when annualised, represented 46% growth over
the previous year. This growth was 15% organic, representing the 7th successive year ofgrowth in
finncap's ECM fees. The balancing 31% of growth came from the acquisition of Cavendish.
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019

30April 2018

2. 86p

2. 22p

Adjusted earnings per share

Whilstbasicearningspershareis anaccountingmeasure,the Boardfocuseson adjustedearnings
per share.Adjusted Earningsexcludesone-offcosts, amortisation of intangibleassetsfrom
acquisitions,share based payments and addsa nominaltax charge.Theweighted numberof shares
includes the shares held by the Group Employee Benefit Trust.

Dividend per share

Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019

30 April 2018

1.38p

0. 91p

The Group's future dividend policy, as stated in the Chairman's report, would generate an annual
dividendof 1.4p pershare basedon the current issued sharecapital.

12
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

finnCap Group picactively guards against risk by regularly reviewing the business and by actively
promoting a culture ofcompliance throughout the Group. The Company has a Risk and Compliance
Committee, which includes its Chairman, Chief Financial Officer, an Independent Non-Executive

DirectorandHeadofCompliance, Additionally,the Companyhastaken out insuranceagainstthose
risksthatthe Directorsconsiderto beappropriate.TheCompany'smain risksareset out below,
separated into operational, regulatory and financial risks.
Operational risks

Riskof pursuing an inappropriate strategy - the Firm manages this riskthrough the Board's oversight
ofstrategy, adherenceto the QCA'scorporategovernancecode, riskanalysisandthe provision of
timely managementinformation in orderto enabledecisionsto be madeappropriately. This is
particularly necessarygiven the diversificationofthe businessand the acquisition of Cavendish.

Riskofmarketdownturn- aswithotherfirms in oursector,finnCapisgenerallydependentonthe
financial market's health and appetite for investment. However, the Board recognises that the
businessand its markets are cyclical, and has developed a business model that is robust in these
circumstances. The Group as a whole is less reliant on any particular subsector of the financial
markets than either of its previously independent subsidiaries.
Risk of loss of key staff- finnCap is a people-oriented business and hence the loss of team members

is a potential risk. The Group maintains appropriate remuneration and employment policies to seek

to retainand improvethe qualityof itsteam and regularlyreviewstheseto ensuretheyarestill
appropriate for this purpose.

Reputational risk - reputational risk accompanies all transactions. finnCap has internal approvals
processes that mitigate risk both before it takes on new business and as transactions proceed. In the
event of risk crystallisation, management would proactively to address market impact and maintain
confidence in the Group's offering and services.

Riskof ITfailure - the level of risk arising from an ITfailure is dependent largely on the extent of the

failure. In particular, there is a risk of data loss, potentially through cyber-attack. AsfinnCap relies
on core data services, management actively seeks providers who have suitable disaster recovery
procedures oftheir own in place, in addition to building networks that are a robust and externally
tested combination of in-house and packaged products.

Capitalrisk- the Group's primaryobjective in managingcapital isto ensurethat it hascapitalwhich
is permanent and which is able to absorb any reasonable losses arising from an extreme event. The

Group'stwo operatingcompaniesare alsosubjectto the capital requirements ofthe FCAHandbook

which sets capital requirements based on the risks (including credit risk and market risk) assumed by
each company. The operating companies manage their capital by performing a daily computation of
the capital requirements and ensuringthat theircapital exceedsthese requirements.

Riskofpoortradingperformance- the Groupreliesonthe superviseddecision-makingofits market
makers and proprietary traders. It contains its potential exposure through the implementation of a

tight regimeoftradinglimits andconstant monitoringof performanceandexposure.Anyprotracted
loss-makingperiod would result in a reappraisalofthe commercial rationale of these business lines.
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Mor/cetr/s/f-the Group is exposedto movements in the value of its holdings in quoted and
unquoted securities. This risk is mitigatedthrough frequent reviewof its holdingsfor
appropriateness, risk and liquidity.

Riskfrom dependenceon third party service providers- the Group relies on third party service
providers for certain aspects of its businesses (for example, on Pershing for settlement of its trades),
There is a risk that these service providers are unable to meet their contractual obligations to the
Group. The Firm manages this risk through the identification of key providers, monitoring oftheir
performance, investigation of issues as and when they arise and dialogue about these providers'
business continuity plans.

Competitionrisk-theGroupoperatesin a competitive market. TheGroup's maindefenceagainst
competition is the desireof management and staffto be a leader in the Group's markets in terms of
client service and the development of new products and services.

ft/s/co/emp/oyeem/sconcft/rtor error-the Group is reliant on its staffto operatetheir roles
appropriately. There is the potentialfor employees to exceedthe boundariesoftheir roles, either
intentionally or through error. The Group manages this risk through clearjob descriptions, the use
of segregation of duties and technology to restrict the potential for breach and monitoring to
highlightbreacheswhenthey occurso enablingtimely remedy.

RiskofForceMajeure- TheGroup'soperations nowor in thefuture may be adverselyaffectedby
risks outsidethe control or anticipationofthe Group. The Group mitigatessome of these risks
through its Risk Committee, which has responsibility for the identification and mitigation of the risks
that the Groupfaces.

Litigation r/sfc- Legal proceedings may arise from time to time in the course of the Group's
businesses.The Group mitigates the riskof litigation throughthe useof clearengagement letters
that specify exactly what services are provided and which limit the Firm's liability appropriately.
Riskfrom integration with Cavendish - the Group is in the process of integrating the two sides of the
business in order to benefit from the synergies available. There is a risk that this process takes
longer, or is costlier than expected or that its implementation will result in a level of management
distraction.

Regulatory risk
The Group operates in a regulated environment. The Group has an independent and well-resourced

compliance department that reports to the Group Board. The Directors monitor changes and
developments in the regulatory environment and ensure that sufficient resources are made

available to implement any required changes. However, there isthe potential that future changes to
the regulatory, legislativeor tax environment may havean impacton the profitabilityofthe Firm.
Particularly relevant here is the lack of visibility of the eventual resolution of Brexit, and its impact
on the Firm, its clients and markets.
Financial and credit risk

Details of the Group's financial and credit risks can be found in note 4 of the financial statements.
Environment

The Group acknowledges the importance of environmental matters and where possible uses
environmentally friendly policies in its offices, such as recyclingand energy-efficient practices.
14
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Anti-Corruption and Bribery
The Group is committed to the highest level of ethical standards in the conduct of its business

affairs, and this is encapsulated in its Financial Crime Policy. This covers all ofthe major forms of

financialcrime, includingbriberyandcorruption. Staffare requiredto conformto this policy, and
the Firm's Gifts and Hospitality Policy, and receive appropriate training.

Approval

Thisstrategic report was approved on behalfofthe Board on 8 July2019.

Sam Smith

Chief Executive Officer
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3 - Corporate Governance Report
UndertheAIM Rules,AIMcompaniesare requiredto providedetailsofa recognisedcorporate
governancecode. The Board has adoptedthe Quoted CompaniesAlliance's Corporate Governance
Code ("QCA Code").
The QCA code is constructed around ten broad principles and a set of disclosures. Recommendations

are madewithinthe QCACodeasto whichdisclosuresshould be madeintheAnnualReport.
Theten principles are as follows:

Principle 1:

Establish a strategy and business model which promotes long term value for

shareholders

TheGroup'sstrategyand businessmodelarediscussedin theStrategicReportabove, alongwiththe
key challengesthat it faces andthe risksthat it is exposedto, and its mitigation ofthese risks.
Principle2:

Seekto understandand meet the shareholderneeds and expectations

Thisisthe responsibilityofthe ExecutiveDirectors,and is achievedthrough investorpresentations
and roadshows. The AGM also provides an opportunity for the shareholders to provide feedback to
the Board on its strategy and business model, where the Non-Executive Chairman and the Senior
Independent Director are availableto meet with shareholders.
Principle 3:
Take into account wider stakeholder and social responsibilities and the
implications for long-term success.
Engaging with our stakeholders strengthens relationships and helps us make better business
decisions.The Board is regularly updated on widerstakeholderfeedback. Our main stakeholders are

ourshareholders,suppliers and customers, employees and regulators.
Employees
The Group is committed to employment policies which follow best practice and are based on

opportunities for all employees. Employee involvement in the Group's affairs is encouraged and
the Chief Executive Officer regularly updates employees on the Group's progress and new
initiatives. Particular recent initiatives include:
.

One-to-one engagement interviews with staff

.

A review and update ofthe Employee Handbook, including staff training and clarifying and

re-affirmingkeypolicieson topicssuchasDataProtection, Relationshipsat Workand Equal
Opportunities

.

The introduction of a more formal, structured induction programme for newjoiners

.

Theintroductionofa programmeofexternaltrainingcoursesto be undertakenduringthe
first year of a graduate's employment

The majority of employees have an equity interest in the Group, providing strong alignment with
other shareholders.
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Customers and communities

Over the past year we have:

.

Continuedto driveourAmbition Nationinitiative,talkingto as many highgrowth,scale-up
companies as possible

.
.

Continued to be a key supporter of Stepping Into Business and its school enterprise
programme, which introduces entrepreneurship into primaryschools
Participated in the New Entrepreneurs Foundation programme, giving an aspiring
entrepreneur valuable experience of working at the heart of an ambitious business

Regulators

TheBoardunderstandsthat its long-term successrelieson it maintaininga good relationshipwith
its key regulators. The Board is very focussedon compliancewith the various regimesthat it
operates under and receives periodic legal briefings on upcoming relevant statute and regulation.

Principle4:

Embed effective risk management, considering both opportunities and threats,

throughout the organisation

We operate a clearly defined, robust, scalable and enterprise-wide risk management and control
frameworkthrough whichwe aim to identifyactual and potential risks and amend our controls and
safeguardsaccordingly.This is managedthroughfinancialand non-financialcontrols, set out below.
Financial controls

The Group has an established framework of internal financial controls, the effectiveness of which is

regularly considered by Executive Management, the Audit Committee, the Risk and Compliance
Committee and the Board in the light of the ongoing assessment of the significant risks facingthe
Group.

.

TheBoardis responsiblefor reviewingandapprovingoverall Groupstrategy, approving
revenue and capital budgets and plans, and for determining the financial structure of the

Group includingtreasury, tax and dividend policy. Results andvariancesfrom plans and
forecasts are reported to the Board

.

TheAudit Committee assiststhe Board in dischargingits duties regardingthe financial
statements, accountingpolicies andthe maintenanceof proper internal business, and
operational and financial controls

.

There are comprehensive procedures for budgeting and planning, for monitoring and
reporting, to the Board, the Group's business performance against those budgets and
plans, and for forecasting expected performance over the remainder of the financial
period. These cover profits, cash flows, capital expenditure and balance sheets. Results are
reported against budget and compared with the prior year, and forecasts for the current
financial year are revised in the light of actual performance
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Non-financial controls

.

The close management of the day-to-day activities ofthe Group by the Executive Directors

.

An organisationalstructure with defined levels of responsibility,which promotes
entrepreneurial decision-making and rapid implementation whilst minimising risks

.

An appropriately staffed compliance department with a clear annual work plan

.

A recently-appointed Group Legal Director to ensure legal risk is properly managed and
legal rigour is enforced in all our businessnegotiations

.

A robust ITstrategywhich is vital to the security and continuityofthe Group

Principle5:

Maintainingthe Boardas a well-functioning,balancedteam led bythe Chairman

The Board comprises the Non-Executive Chairman, four Executive Directors (including an Executive
Deputy Chairman) and three Non-Executive Directors.

The Chairman is responsiblefor the effective leadership, operation andgovernanceofthe Board
and its Committees. He ensuresthat all Directors contribute effectively in the development and
implementation of the Group's strategy, as well as ensuring that the nature and extent of the

significant risks the Group is willing to embrace in the implementation of its strategy are
determined and challenged. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the management of the
Group's business and for implementing the Group's strategy.

The Board and each of its committees receive regularandtimely reports on the Group's
operational and financial performance. Board packs are circulated in advance of each Board

meeting and minutes reviewedand approved followingeach meeting.
The Board regardsAndrewHogarth and Barbara Firth as independent non-executiveDirectors. The
Board has appointed Andrew Hogarth as the Senior Independent Director to be available to
Shareholders if they have concerns over an issuethat the normal channels of communication

(throughthe Chairman,the ChiefExecutiveOfficerorthe ChiefFinancialOfficer) havefailedto
resolve or for whichsuchchannelsof communicationare inappropriate.
The Board is satisfied that it has a suitable balance between independence on the one hand and

knowledgeof the Groupon the other, to enable it to dischargeits duties and responsibilities

effectively. All Directorsareencouragedto usetheirindependentjudgementandto challengeall
matters, whetherstrategic or operational.
The Chairman will assess Board effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Group has effective procedures in place to monitor and deal with conflicts of interest. The

Board is awareofthe other commitments and interests of its Directors, and changesto these
commitments and interests are reported to and, where appropriate, agreed with the rest ofthe
Board.
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Ensure that between them the Directors have the necessary up-to-date

experience, skills and capabilities

The Board of Directors' details and biographiesare on pages21.
The Board is satisfied that it has an effective and appropriate balance of skills and experience,
including in the areas offinance, growth companies, trading technologies and marketing. Contracts
are availablefor inspectionat the Group's registered officeand at the AGM.

Directorsattendseminarsandother regulatoryandtradeeventsto ensurethattheir knowledge
remains current, and the Board receives legal briefings on upcoming legislation and regulation.
All Directors retire by rotation at regular intervals in accordance with the Group's Articles of
Association.

Independent advice

All Directors are able to take independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties, if
necessary, at the Group's expense. In addition to the support provided by the Group's retained
professional advisors (i. e. Nomad, lawyers and auditor), external consultants may be engaged to
advise on specific matters as required. In addition, the Directors have direct accessto the advice

andservices ofthe ChiefFinancialOfficerandthe CompanySecretary.

Principle7:

EvaluateBoardperformancebasedonclearandrelevantobjectives,seeking

continuous improvement

The Chairman regularly assessesthe individual contributions of each member of the team to
ensure that:

.

their contribution is relevant and effective;

.

they are committed; and

.

where relevant, they have maintained their independence

The performance of the team as a unit will be assessed in December2019to ensure that the

members ofthe Boardcollectivelyfunction in an efficient and productive manner.
The Board will consider the benefits of an external evaluation of the Board every three years.
Principle8:

Promote a culture which is based on ethical values and behaviours

The Board recognises that core values provide a framework which influences every level of the
Group. The Group has adopted the core values of being smart thinking, collegiate and dynamic. The
Chief Executive Officer takes the lead in demonstrating corporate culture, and encourages

employeesto contributeto the furtheranceofthesevalues.Thecorevaluesform a key part of
Employee Performance and Development Reviews. The Human Resources and Marketing teams
promote the Group's values which underpin conditions of employment and everyday working

practices.TheBoard believesthatthestrongculture evident inthe Groupcreatesa thriving
environment and helps to build a team atmosphere.

The Group has in place a Whistleblowing Policy which is clearly set out in the Employee Handbook
whichincludesdetails of howto raiseconcerns internally and externally.
Aswell as beinga keysupporter ofSteppinglnto Business,theGroupsupportsa numberof staff
led charitable initiatives.

19

finnCap Group pic

Principle 9:

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019

Maintain governance structures and processes that are fit for purpose andsupport

good decision makingby the Board

The ExecutiveDirectorsofthe Board haveoverall responsibilityfor managingthe day-to-day
operations of the Group and the Board as a whole is responsible for monitoring performance
againstthe Company's goals and objectives.
Board meeting programme

The Board meets at least six times per year in accordance with its scheduled meeting calendar.
Priorto the start of each financial year, a schedule of dates for that year's Board meetings is
compiled, to align as is reasonably practicable with the Group's financial calendar, whilst also

ensuring an appropriate spread of meetings across the financial year. This may be supplemented by
additional meetings as and when required.

DetailedBoard packs include information on all businessunits andfinancial performance and are
circulated ahead of Board meetings. Key issues are highlighted and explained, providing Board

memberswithsufficientinformationto enablea relevant discussionat the Boardmeeting.
Any specific actions arising from such meetings are agreed by the Board or relevant Committee and

then followed up bythe Group's management.
Executive Team

TheExecutiveTeamconsistsofSamSmith,StuartAndrews,Tom Haywardand LordLeighof Hurley
with inputfromthe Headsof Department.Theyare responsibleforformulation ofthe proposed
strategicfocusforsubmissionto the Board,the day-to-daymanagementofthe Group's business
and its overalltrading,operationalandfinancialperformancein fulfilment ofthatstrategy,aswell
as preparing plans and budgets to be approved by the Board of Directors. It also manages and
oversees key risks, managementdevelopment and corporate responsibility programmes.

Principle 10:

Communicate how the Group is governed and is performing by maintaining a

dialoguewith shareholders and other relevant stakeholders
The Group's methodology for maintaining a dialogue with shareholders and other stakeholders is

set out in Principle 2 above.The Board believesthat transparency in its dealingsoffers a level of
comfort to stakeholders and an understanding that their views will be listened to.

TheNon-ExecutiveDirectorsattendtheAGM andhavethe opportunityto attend other meetings
with shareholdersand do so from timeto time or as requested. The Board is kept informed on
market views about the Group.

All shareholders are invited to make use of the Group's AGM to raise any questions regarding the
managementor performance ofthe Company.
Following the Group's first AGM as a public company, the outcome of the votes will be announced
and published on the finnCapGroup website.
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The Board of Directors
Jan Moulton, Non-Executive Chairman

Background and suitability for the role:
Jan was appointed chairman of finnCap in January 2010. He is currently Chairman of The
International Stock Exchangeand Anti-Microbial Research Limited. He is a Chartered Accountant

and a Fellow of the Institute for Turnaround Professionals. He chairs the Better Capital funds and
Greensphere, an alternative energy infrastructure fund. He is an active private investor and has

beenworkingin privateequitysince1979.Jonisa memberofboththe Boardofthe Corporate
Finance Faculty and the Technical Strategy Board of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and
regularly writes, broadcasts and speaks on corporate finance and financial matters. He is a Director

ofthethinktank,TheCentrefor PolicyStudies.Jonisalsoan HonoraryFellowof UniversityCollege
London and a Trustee of the UKStem Cell Foundation and his own medical research charity. A
former ManagingPartnerof Alchemy, Jon'scareeralso included running Permira, CVCUKandthe
buy-out group of Apax, as well as being a director of numerous public and private companies,
including Ashmore PLC. He was also a board member of the £3. 8 billion UK Government Regional
Growth Fund.

Time commitment: Approximately 2-3 days a month.
Lord Leigh of Hurley, Executive Deputy Chairman

Howardistheseniorpartnerandco-founderofCavendish,andhasbuilt the businessinto a leading
UKM&Aadvisory practice. Hegraduatedin Economicsand, aftera short period in UKmerchant
banking, joined Deloitte Haskins & Sells where he qualified as a Chartered Accountant and further
qualified with the Chartered Institute of Taxation. In early 1986 Howard established Deloitte's
Mergers and Acquisitions business and developed an expertise in selling corporates. In 1988 he left
to set up Cavendish. He served as the Chairman of the Faculty of Corporate Finance of the ICAEW

between 2000 and 2004. During this time, he also served on the Takeover Panel as well as sitting
on the Councilofthe ICAEW.In 2008 he was awardedthe Faculty'sOutstandingAchievementin
Corporate Financeaward. Howardwas a Vice Presidentof M&A International Inc.,the global

advisoryM&Afirm, and predecessorto OaklinsInternationalInc. Hewaselevatedto the Peerage
as Baron Leighof Hurley in 2013, and speaks regularly in the Houseof Lordson business,finance
andtax matters. Howardwasappointed as a Treasurerofthe Conservative Party in 2000, and
subsequently as Senior Treasurer.
Time commitment: Full-time

Sam Smith, ChiefExecutiveOfficer
Background and suitability for the role:

SamestablishedfinnCapin 2007, havingorchestratedthe managementbuy-outofa small broking
subsidiary ofJM Finn & Co Limited, a private client stockbroking firm. Sam is the first female chief

executive of a City stockbroking firm and as such is a supporter of social enterprises designed to
inspire and engage the next generation of female business leaders and entrepreneurs. Sam

qualifiedas a CharteredAccountant at KPMGand is an alumnus ofthe University of Bristol.
Time commitment: Full-time
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Tom Hayward,ChiefFinancialOfficer
Background and suitability for the role:

Tom was appointed to the role of Finance Director to finnCap in 2010. He previously spent nearly
10 years as Venture Capital investor at Herald Investment Management Limited where he invested

in early-stage information technologyand mediacompanies. Between 1998 and 2000,Tom wasan
Executive at J. Henry Schroder & Co, in the telecoms and technology M&A team. Tom started as a

trainee accountant in KPMG'sprojectfinanceteam and has a BA (Hons) in NaturalSciencesfrom
Trinity College, Cambridge,and an MScin Computingfrom ImperialCollege, London.
Time commitment: Full-time

Stuart Andrews, Head of Corporate
Background and suitabilityfor the role:

StuartjoinedfinnCapin March2012as HeadofCorporate Financeandjoinedthe boardoffinnCap
in 2013. He qualified as a chartered accountant at PwCand subsequently worked in the corporate

financedepartmentofBeesonGregoryand EvolutionSecurities.Stuart hasextensiveknowledgeof
advisory roles for ambitious growth companies both on the public markets and privately which
includes IPOs, all aspects of fundraising and M&A. Stuart iscurrenttya memberofthe London Stock

ExchangeAIMAdvisoryGroup, an externalcommitteeofseniorexecutiveswho provideinput and
advice on all matters affecting the operation and regulation of AIM. He has previously chaired the
Quoted Companies Alliance Markets and Regulations Committee and is now a member of the
Primary Markets Expert Group.
Time commitment: Full-time

Andrew Hogarth, Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Background and suitability for the role:

Andrewwasappointedtothe boardofStafflineGrouppicas FinanceDirectorin 2002, becoming
ManagingDirector in 2003 andwas appointed ChiefExecutivewhenthe companywasadmitted to
tradingon AIM in 2004. Duringthe fifteen years of his leadership,the businessgrewfrom a
turnover of £40 million in 2004 to nearly £1 billion in 2017, with underlying operating profits
growingfrom £2 million to over £39 million duringthe same period. He has held senior roles in a
wide rangeof businesses, includingretail, support services, healthcare, hospitality and
construction. As FinanceDirector, he led the managementbuy-outandsubsequenttrade sale (to

MorganSindallin 2002)ofPipelineConstructors Group, a utilityservices business.Hecurrently sits
on the board of an elderly care charity, is a Governor of two RSA academy schools and is the Non-

ExecutiveChairmanofTenlO Ltd, a PEbackedcomputer softwaretestingconsultancy. He is also a
Director of Hogarths hlotels, two boutique hotels in Solihull and Kidderminster. He is a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Time commitment: Approximately 2-3 days month.
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Vin Murria QBE, Non-Executive Director

Background and suitabilityfor the role:
Vin brings more than 25 years of venture capital, private equity, M&A, Chief Executive Officer and

operational experiencein the softwaresector. Vin has held ChiefExecutiveOfficerpositions at
Advanced ComputerSoftwarewhichshefounded in 2008 andsold seven years laterto Vista
Private Equity, and at Computer Software Group. During her five-year tenure at Computer Software
Groupshetookthe company private, backed by HG Capital, then subsequentlysold it to PE
Hellman Friedman in July2007. Vin is on the boardsof three FTSE250companies,Zoopla Pic,
SophosPicandSoftest Pic. Her previous roles includeCOOat KewillSystems pic, a partnerat
Elderstreet Investments and holds non-executive director roles at Chime Pic, Greenko Pic,
Concateno Pic (acquired by Providence), GIC Private equity and Inverness Medical. Vin has a BSc
(Hons) in Computer Science and an MBA from the University of London and a Doctorate Business
Administration (Honorary) from Edinburgh Napier University.
Time commitment: Approximately 2-3 days a month.
Barbara Ann Firth (formerly Bebbington), Independent Non-Executive Director
Background and suitability for the role:

Barbara has decades of financial and management experience covering both private and quoted
companies. Previous roles have included Chief Financial Officer and subsequently ChiefOperating
Officer of Advanced Computer Software Group pic ("ACS") from its early stages to the sale in 2015

to Vistafor£725 million. Priorto herrole atACS,BarbarawasChiefFinancialOfficerofComputer
Software Group pic ("CSG") from the time of its float to the sale in 2007 to HG Capita. Prior to CSG,
Barbara was the UK financial controller for Roberts Pharmaceutical Inc. and a member of the

Roberts/Shiremergertaskforce. BarbarahasconsiderableM&Aexperienceincludingprocessing
and integrating many smaller bolt-on acquisitions and several larger scale transactions. Barbara's

past responsibilitieshaveincluded Finance, M&A, Human Resources, Legaland Commercial
Contracts, Investor Relations and Company Secretarialfunctions.
Time commitment: Approximately 2-3 days a month.
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Board Committees

The Board is supported in its role by four key committees which have written terms of reference.

Position

J P Moulton

Non-Executive Chairman

V Murria

Non-Executive Director

B A Firth
A J Hogarth

Independent NonExecutive

Independent NonExecutive

finnCapLtdApril 2018-

Maximum

Maximum

Nov 2018

Possible
attendance

Meetings
attended

7

7

7

7

28-Nov-19

7

6

7

7

28-Nov-19

7

7

28-NOV-19

7

7

Date of
Name

finnCap Board PLC Nov
2018-Mar2019

appointment
28-NOV-19

Possible

Meetings
attended

attendance

S A Andrews

Head of Corporate

28. Nov. l9

7

6

7

7

TWRHayward

Chief Financial officer

28-Aug-19

9

9

7

7

S J Smith

Chief Executive Officer

28-Aug-19

9

9

7

7

H D Leigh

Deputy Chairman

28-Nov-19

7

6

J N D Stelzer*

ChiefCommercial Officer

28-Nov-19

5

3

Committee membership
Name

Position

J P Moulton

Non-Executive Chairman

V Murria

Non-Executive Director

B A Firth

Independent Non-Executive

^

^

^

^

A J Hogarth

Independent Non-Executive

^

^

^

^

S A Andrews

Head of Corporate

TWRHayward

ChiefFinancial officer

S J Smith

Chief Executive Officer

H D Leigh

Deputy Chairman

J N D Stelzer*

ChiefCommercial Officer

Audit

Risk

Remuneration N

v

y

*resigned 24th January 2019
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Remuneration Committee Report
Andrew Hogarth, Chairof the Remuneration Committee

I am pleased to present this remuneration report, which sets out the remuneration policy and the
remuneration paid to the Directorsfor the period.
Role of the Remuneration Committee

Theoverall objective isto ensurethatshareholderandmanagementinterestsarealigned.Indoing
so we also aim to make the schemes more transparent, easier to communicate and simpler to
operate. The Remuneration Committee sets the policy forthe remuneration of the Chairman,Chief
Executive Officer, Executive Directors, Company Secretary, and any other members of the
executive management that it is asked to consider.

The Renumeration Committee's Terms of Reference are available on the finnCap Group website.
Remuneration Committee members and meetings
The Remuneration Committee consists of Andrew Hogarth and one other Non-Executive Director.
It meets as required during the year. The Committee determines the remuneration and benefit of
the Executive Directors.

The ExecutiveDirectors haveservice agreements subjectto 6 months' notice on eitherside. The
CEO's notice period is 12 months.

The Non-ExecutiveDirectorssigned letters of appointment with the Group on admissionto AIM in
December 2018, which may be terminated by either party giving three months' written notice. The

Non-Executive'sDirector'sfeesaredetermined bythe Boardwithinthe limitsset bythe Group's
Articles of Association.

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are invited to attend meetings of the
Committee, but no Director is involved in any decisions relating to their own remuneration.

Noneofthe members ofthe Committee haveany personalfinancialinterest (otherthan as
shareholders), conflictsof interests arisingfrom crossdirectorships, or day-to-dayinvolvement in
runningthe business.

The Committee is responsiblefor settingthe frameworkand policyfor the remuneration ofthe
Executive Directors and designated senior managers. It determines specific elements of their

remuneration,their contractualterms and, where necessary, compensation arrangements.
The Committee keeps itselfinformed of all relevant developments and best practice in the field of
remuneration andseeksadvicefrom external adviserswhen it considers it appropriate.
Remuneration Policy

TheGroup's remuneration policy is designedto ensurethatthe remuneration packagesattract,
motivate and retain all employees of high calibre and to reward them for enhancing value to
shareholders.The Group's policy isthat a substantialproportion ofthe total potential
remuneration ofthe ExecutiveDirectorsshould be performance-related and alignedto
performance measuresthat benefitall shareholdersand promote the long-term successofthe
Group. The performance measurement of the Executive Directors andthe determination of their

annual remuneration package, includingperformancetargets, are undertaken bythe
Remuneration Committee.
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There are five main elements of the remuneration package for Executive Directors and other senior
management:

.

Basic annual salary

.

Benefits

.

Quarterly bonus payments

.

Long-term incentives

.

Pension arrangements

Remuneration for the period
Total

Fees

Bonus

Benefits

2019

234,450

258,000
116,636

1, 253
1, 876
1, 763
1, 899
531

493, 703
281, 192
68, 429
362, 983

Total
2018

Executive Directors

S J Smith
TWRHayward
H D Leigh
S A Andrews

J N D Stelzer

162, 680
66, 667
166, 448
35, 813

194, 636

461, 030

251,302
298, 680

36,344

Non-Executive Directors
J P Moulton
V Murria

A J Hogarth
B A Firth

Total

50,417
45, 833
16, 667
16, 667
795, 641

50,417
45,833
16,667
569,272

7, 322

16, 667
1,372, 235

55,000
12, 500

1.078.512

Directors' service contracts
Date of

Date of

appointment

retirement

Notice
Contract

Period

Re-election*

Executive Directors

S J Smith
TWRHayward
H D Leigh

28 November 2018

S A Andrews

28 November 2018

J N D Stelzer

28 November 2018

28 August 2018

Rolling
Rolling
Rolling
Rolling

28 August 2018

24 January 2019

12 months

Sep-19

6 months

Sep-19
Sep-19

6 months
6 months

Rolling

6 months

Sep-19
Sep-19

Non-Executive Directors
J P Moulton

28 November 2018

3 years

3 months

VMurria

28 November 2018

3 years

3 months

A J Hogarth
B A Firth

28 November 2018

3 years

3 months

28 November 2018

3 years

3 months

*At AGM
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Directors' interests under Employee Share Plans
Outstanding
Date of issue*

S J Smith

TWRHayward
S A Andrews

Apr 2018

Outstanding
Granted

Exercised

Exercise

Mar 2019

price (p)

Expiry
Vested

Date

26 Nov 2018

1, 685, 714

1, 685, 714

5.0

Yes

May-23

26 Nov 2018

173,076

173, 076

10.4

Mar-20

Mar-24

26 Nov 2018

1, 400, 000

1, 000, 000

5.0

Yes

Mar-24

26 Nov 2018

173, 076

173,076

10.4

Mar-20

Mar-24

26 Nov 2018

600, 000

26 Nov 2018

1, 100, 000

1, 100, 000

14.0

Yes

May-21

26 Nov 2018

1, 100,000

1, 100, 000

14.0

May-20

May-23

(400,000)
(600,000)

* Options held for finnCapLtdshareweretransferredto finnCapGroup pic on the sharefor share
acquisitionof finnCapLtd byfinnCapGroup pic.
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Audit Committee Report
Barbara Firth, Chair of the Audit Committee

I am pleased to present this report on behalf of the Audit Committee for the period from admission
to AIM to 31 March 2019.

The objective of the Committee is to provide oversight and governance to the Group's financial
reports, its internal controls and processes in place, its risk management systems and the
appointment of and relationship with the external auditor.

TheAudit Committee's Terms of Referenceare availableon the finnCapGroup website.
Key responsibilities:

.

Monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Group, reviewing any significant
reporting issues andjudgements they contain

.

Advise on the clarity of disclosure and information contained in the Annual Report and
Accounts

.

Ensure compliance with applicable accounting standards and review the consistent of
methodology applied

.

Review the adequacy and effectiveness ofthe internal control and risk management systems

.

Overseethe relationshipwiththe externalauditor, reviewingperformanceandadvisingthe
Board on their appointment and remuneration

.

To keep under review the need for an internal audit function and make recommendations
to the Board

.

Review of whistleblowing and anti-bribery arrangements

Audit Committee membership and meetings:
The Audit Committee is chaired by Barbara Firth and consists of one other Non-Executive Director.
The Executive Directors and the Chairman of the Board attend by invitation. It meets a minimum of

threetimes peryearand at least once a yearwiththe external auditors present.
The main items of business considered by the Audit Committee during the year included:
.

Reviewof the Group's Initial Accounts, prepared followingthe cancellation of the credit to
the share premium account to allow the payment of the interim dividend on 15 March 2019.

.

Reviewofthe FY19audit plan and audit engagement letter

.

Consideration of the key audit matters and how they are addressed

.

Reviewofthe suitability of the external auditor

.

Review of the financial statements and Annual Report

.

Consideration of the external audit report and management representation letter

.

Going concern review
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Role of the External Auditor

The Audit Committee monitors the relationship with the Group's external auditor BDO LLP,to ensure
that its independenceand objectivity is maintained. Notingthe tenure of BDO LLP,the Committee
will keep under review the need for an external tender. As part of its review, the Committee monitors
the review of non-audit fees and this is set out in note 6. The Audit Committee also assesses the

auditor's performance. The Committee has confirmed it is satisfied with the performance of BDO LLP
and has recommended to the Board that the auditors be reappointed, and there will be a resolution
to that effect at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
The Audit Process

The auditor prepares an audit plan for the review of the full period financial statements. The audit

plan sets out the scope of the audit, areas to be targeted and the audit timetable. This plan is
reviewed and agreed in advance bythe Audit Committee. Following the audit, the auditor presented

itsfindingsto theAuditCommitteefordiscussionwith no majorareasofconcern highlighted.
Internal Audit

Currently the Group does not have an internal audit function and the Committee believes that
management is able to derive assurance as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls

from its risk managementprocedures. The Boardwill reviewthis policy annually.
Whistleblowing

The Group has in place a whistleblowing policy which sets out the formal process by which an

employeeofthe Groupmayraiseconcernsabout possibleimproprietiesinthefinancialreportingor
anyother matters.TheCommittee iscomfortablethatthecurrent policyisoperatingeffectively.
Anti-Bribery

The Group has in place Financial Crime Policy which sets out its position and provides information

and guidance to those working for the Group on how to recognise and deal with bribery and
corruption issues. The Committee is comfortable that the current policy is operating effectively.
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Nomination Committee

The primary purpose of the Committee is to lead the process for Board appointments and to make
recommendations for maintaining an appropriate balance of skills on the Board.

The Nomination Committee's Terms of Reference are available on the finnCap Group website.
Key responsibilities:

.

Reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity) of the Board on a regular basis and making recommendations to the Board
with regard to any changes

.

Considering succession planning, taking into account the challenges and opportunities facing
the Group and the skills and expertise needed on the Board in the future

.

Reviewingthe leadershipneedsofthe organisation, both executive and non-executive,with
a view to ensuring the continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the
marketplace

.

Identifyingand nominatingcandidatesto fill Boardvacanciesasandwhentheyarise

.

Evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity on the Board and, in
the light ofthis evaluation, preparing a description ofthe role and capabilities required for a
particular appointment

.

Ensuringthat, on appointment to the Board, non-executive directors receive a formal letter

of appointment setting out clearly what is expected of them in terms of time commitment,
committee service and involvement outside Board meetings
.

Reviewingannuallythe time required from a non-executive director

Nomination Committee members and meetings
The Nomination Committee is chaired by Andrew Hogarth and comprises the Chairman of the Board

Jon Moulton and one other Non-Executive Director. The Committee shall meet as necessary to fulfil
its responsibilities and meet its objective. There have not been any meetings of the Nomination
Committee since it was established at the IPO in December 2018.
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Risk and Compliance Committee

TheRiskCommittee'sremit istheassessmentofthequality, integrity, implementationandreliability
of the Group's risk management processes.

The Risk Committee's Terms of Reference are available on the finnCap Group website,
Key responsibilities are to:

.

Form an opinion about the quality, integrity and reliability of the Group's Risk and
Compliance management processes, including CASS arrangements

.

Provide an objective oversight and review ofthe information presented bythe management
team on risks and risk management in their specificdepartments, includinga review of the
breach register at each meeting

.

Monitor the Group's entire risk profile, ensuring that the major risks are identified and
escalated appropriately

.

Ensure that the risk disclosure is comprehensive, timely and relevant

.

Discharge its duties relating to corporate accountability and the associated risk in terms of
management, assurance and risk reporting

RiskCommittee membership and meetings
The Risk Committee is chaired byJan Moulton and comprises one other Non-Executive Director. The

Committeeshall meetas necessaryto fulfil its responsibilitiesand meet its objectives. Meetingsare
typically monthly.

The Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Compliance and the Legal Director are invited to attend
meetings of the Committee.
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4 - Directors' Responsibilities and Report
The Directors serving during the 11 month period ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of

signingofthe financialstatements presenttheir report on the affairsofthe Company (finnCap
Group pic) and its subsidiaries (collectively the Group), together with the Company financial
statements and the audited financial statements of the Group and the associated independent
auditor's report, for the period ended 31 March 2019.
Parent Company

TheCompanyactsasthe holdingcompanyfortheGroupanddetailsof its subsidiaryundertakings
can be found in note 14.
Dividends

Interim dividends of £1, 635, 121, 1. 38p per share, were paid during the year (2018 - £1, 051, 283). Of
these, £230, 790 (0. 148p per share) was paid by the Company, the remaining dividends were paid by
finnCap Ltd prior to the share for share acquisition by finnCap Group pic. The Directors propose that
no final dividend is paid (2018-£nil). The Board is nowdeclaringan interim dividendforthe financial
period ended 31 March 2020 of 0. 355p per share.
Going concern

The Directors believe that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue trading

forthe foreseeablefuture. Accordingly,theycontinueto adoptthegoingconcern basisin preparing
the financial statements.
Post balance sheet events

An interim dividend of 0. 355p per share was proposed bythe Directors at their meeting on 8th July
2019. Thesefinancialstatements do not reflect this dividend payable.
Relations with shareholders

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer communicate the Group's strategy and results
to shareholders and analysts principally through meetings held following the announcement of the
Group's full annual and interim results.
Shareholders may also attend the Annual General Meeting at which members of the Board are
availableto answerquestions.
Independentauditors
BDO LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and a resolution to re-

appoint BDOLLPas auditorofthe Groupwill be proposed at the forthcomingAnnual General
Meeting.

Employment policy
The Group's employment policies are based on a commitment to equal opportunities for all from the

selection and recruitment processes, through to training, development, appraisaland promotion.
The Group recognises that its people are pivotal to its success and encourages the involvement of
employees by its performance-driven employee share plans.
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Changeof control

Directors' and employees' employment contracts do not providefor compensationfor loss of office

oremployment dueto a changeofcontrol. The provisionsoftheCompany'sshareplans may,
however,causeoptionsandawardsgrantedto employees undersuchplansto veston a changeof
control.
Political donations

TheGroupdid not makeanypoliticaldonationsor incuranypoliticalexpenditureduringtheyear.
Directors' indemnities

Directors' and Officers'LiabilityInsurance is maintained bythe Groupfor all Directors and Officersof

the Company and the Group as permitted bythe Companies Act 2006. Tothe extent permitted by
law and in accordancewith its Articles of Association,the Company indemnifiesits Directors in

respectofanyloss, liabilityorexpensethey incurin relationto the Companyoranyassociated
company of the Company. Indemnityprovisionswere in force duringthe period andthese remain in
force at the date of this report.
Sharecapital and share premium

As at 31 March 2019, the issued share capital of the Company was £1, 688, 301. This comprised of

168,803,089ordinaryIp shares,whichareadmittedto tradingon AIM.All shares haveequalvoting
rights and no person hasanyspecial rights overthe Company's sharecapital.
Details of shares issued during the period are shown in note 22.
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilitiesfor the period ended 31 March 2019
Directors' Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparingthe annual report and the FinancialStatements in
accordancewith applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under
that law the Directors have elected to prepare the Group and Company financial statements in

accordancewith International FinancialReportingStandards(IFRSs)as adopted bythe European
Union. Undercompany lawthe directors must not approve the FinancialStatements unlessthey are
satisfiedthat they give a true andfairviewofthe state of affairsofthe group and companyand of
the profit or loss of the Group for that period. The Directors are also required to prepare financial
statements in accordance with the rules of the London Stock Exchange for companies trading
securities on AIM.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the directors are required to:
.
.
.

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Financial
Statements;

.

prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsiblefor keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracyat any time the

financial position ofthe Companyand enablethem to ensurethat the financialstatements comply
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
Website publication
The Directors are responsible for ensuringthe Annual Report and the Financial Ftatements are made
available on a website. Financial statements are published on the Company's website in accordance
with legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of Financial
Statements, which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of
the Company's website is the responsibility of the directors. The Directors' responsibility also
extends to the ongoing integrity of the FinancialStatements contained therein.
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Directors and their interests

The directors who served during the period andtheir interests in the share capital ofthe Company
as at 31 March 2019 are shown below.
31 March 2019

% of

Ordinary shares

ordinary shares

Number*

in issue

16,014, 286

9. 5%
1. 9%
9. 7%

Executive Directors

S J Smith (appointed 28/08/2018)
T W R Hayward(appointed 28/08/2018)
H D Leigh(appointed 28/08/2018)

3, 193,352
16, 327, 892
3, 878, 334

S A Andrews (appointed 28/08/2018)

2. 3%

J N D Stelzer(appointed 28/08/2018)
and resigned 24/01/2019)

3, 202,772

1. 9%

J P Moulton (appointed 28/08/2018)

20, 022, 854

11. 9%

V Murria (appointed 28/08/2018)
A J Hogarth (appointed 28/08/2018)
B A Firth (appointed 28/08/2018)

18,592, 698
357, 142

11.0%
0. 2%

357, 142

0. 2%

Non-Executive Directors

*lncluding connected parties

The Directors' interests in options over ordinaryshares in the Companyat 31 March 2019are set out
in the Remuneration Report on page 25.
Substantial shareholders

Excluding the Directors' interest noted above, the Directors have been notified of substantial

shareholders.Thetable belowshows holdingsof morethan three percent as at 31 March 2019.
31 March 2019

Ordinaryshares

% of
ordinary shares

Substantial shareholders

Number

in issue

finnCap Employee's Benefit Trust
GNash
M Tubby

12, 291, 006

7. 3%

7,080,000

4. 2%

5, 196, 687

3. 1%
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Purchase of own shares

Priorto the share for share acquisition of finnCap Ltd by finnCap Group pic, the Group's Employee
Benefit Trust purchased and sold shares in finnCap Ltd. Upon completion of the acquisition, the

Trust's holdingwasconverted intofinnCapGrouppicsharesandfuturetransactionswere infinnCap
Group pic shares.
Details of shares purchased and sold during the year can be found in note 24,

This report was approved by the Board on 8 July 2019 and signed on its behalf

Tom Hayward
Chief Financial Officer
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5 - Independent Auditor's Report to the members of finnCap Group pic
Opinion

We haveauditedthe financialstatements offinnCapGroup pic (the 'parent company') and its
subsidiaries (the 'Group') for the 7 and 11 month periods respectively ended 31 March 2019 which

comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated and company
statement of financial position, consolidated and company statement of cash flows, consolidated

and company statement of changes in equity and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Thefinancial reportingframeworkthat has been applied in the preparation ofthe financial
statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion:

.

the financial statements give a true and fair view ofthe state of the Group's and of the
parent company's affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of the Group's profit for the period then
ended;

.

the Group financial statements have been property prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union;

.

the parent companyfinancialstatements have been properly prepared in accordancewith
IFRSsas adopted bythe European Union and as applied in accordancewith the provisions of
the CompaniesAct 2006; and

.

the financialstatements have been prepared in accordancewiththe requirements ofthe
Companies Act 2006.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities underthose standards are further described in the Auditor's

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group and the parent company in accordancewiththe ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to
listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basisfor our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs(UK)
require us to report to you where:

.

the Directors' use ofthe goingconcern basisofaccountingin the preparation ofthe financial
statements is not appropriate; or

.

the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group's or the parent company's
abilityto continueto adoptthe goingconcern basisof accountingfor a period of at least
twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements ofthe current period and include the most significant assessed
risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which
hadthe greatest effect on:the overall auditstrategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directingthe efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

How we addressed the Key Audit Matter in the Audit

Revenue Recognition of Corporate Finance

Our procedures performed included:

Fees

.

For a sample of placing fees, we have obtained the

As described in note 2 to the financial

placing pack for each engagement and have

statements, the Group generates revenue

reviewed these to obtain confinnation ofthe funds

from several different distinct revenue

raised and the percentage commission received by

streams including, income from trading
activities, and corporate finance fee and

the Group.

retainerincomeandothertradingprofits

.

from short term investments.

revenue to regulatory announcements in order to

confinn the timing and ensure that the placement had

Revenue from corporate financefeesare

taken place.

based on a success basis and therefore only
earned when the deal is concluded.

We have then agreed the recognition and timing of

.

For a sample ofcorporatefinancefees, the
engagement letter was obtained and reviewed. We
agreed/detennined the amount/calculation of

There is a risk in the recognitionof
corporate finance deal fees in that revenue is
not recognised in accordance with the
contractual entitlement or perfonnance

revenue, the performanceobligation/(s)andwhen

riskandrewardswouldbetransferred. Thissupports
the amount ofrevenue that should be recognised.
We have agreed the income recognised to the invoice

obligationandthereforenotrecognizedthe
correct accounting period.

and to the bank statement.

.

We have performed cut-offtesting by selecting
placing packs after the year-end and agreed the
performance obligation back to contract and
regulatory announcements to ensure the income was

recognisedin the correct accountingperiod.

As a resultoftheproceduresabovewedidnotfindany
material errors in relationto the recognitionofrevenue.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the
effect of misstatements. For planning,we considermaterialityto bethe magnitude bywhich
misstatements, including omissions, could influencethe economic decisions of reasonable users that
are taken on the basis of the financial statements. Importantly, misstatements belowthis level will
not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account ofthe nature of identified

misstatements, and the particularcircumstancesoftheir occurrence, whenevaluatingtheir effect on
the financial statements.
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The Group was incorporated in the current yearand acquiredits subsidiaries. Basedon our
professionaljudgement, we determined materialityfor the Groupfinancialstatements as a wholeto
be £272k, which represents 7. 5% of the Group's profit before tax for the period. The parent

company'smaterialitywasdeterminedat £355kwhichrepresents 1.5%oftotal assets.The parent
was audited at the Group materiality number of £272k due to it being a component and higher than
the Group materiality we limited it to the Group's materiality for our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements.

Our audit work on each component of the Group was executed at levels of materiality applicable to
the individual entity or restricted to the Group materiality.
Performance materiality is the application of materiality at the individual account or balance level

set at an amountto reduceto an appropriately low level the probabilitythat the aggregateof
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality. On the basis of our risk assessment

together with our assessment of the Group's overall control environment, our judgment was that
overall performance materiality for the Group should be 70% of materiality, equating to £190k). The
parent company's performance materialitywasset at 70%, equatingto £249k but audited at the
Group performance materiality of £190k due to it being a component and higher than the Group
materiality we limited it to the Group's materiality for our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all audit differences in excess of

£llk, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds.
An overview ofthe scope of our audit

We tailored our audit to ensure we have performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on

thefinancialstatementsasa wholetakinginto accountthe structure ofthe Groupand its accounting
processes and controls. TheGroup wasformed duringthe year by means ofthe acquisitionof
Cavendish Corporate Financeand an IPO in December2018 on the Alternative Investors Market

("AIM")ofthe LondonStockExchange.TheGroupis basedinthe United Kingdomand it operates
through subsidiaries of the parent company. The main trading entities are finnCap Limited and
CavendishCorporate FinanceLLPwho provide stockbrokingand corporate financeservicesto their
clients.

The Group auditengagementteam carried out full scope auditsfor the ParentCompanyandthe two

significantcomponents. Forthe remainingcomponents, we performedaudit procedureson specific
accounts within that component that we considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the
significantaccounts in the financial statements, either because of the size of these accounts or their
risk profile.
Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor's

report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
exceptto the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not expressanyform of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connectionwith our audit of the financialstatements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doingso, considerwhetherthe other information is materially inconsistentwith
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the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. Ifwe identifysuch material inconsistenciesor apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whetherthere is a material misstatement in the

financialstatements or a material misstatement ofthe other information. If, basedon the workwe
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
requiredto report that fact. We have nothingto report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course ofthe audit:

.

the informationgiven in the strategic report andthe Directors' report for the financial
period for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements; and

.

the strategic report andthe Directors' report have been prepared in accordancewith
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding ofthe Group and the parent company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in
the strategic report or the Directors' report.

We havenothingto report in respectofthefollowingmatters in relationto whichthe Companies
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

.

adequateaccountingrecords have not been kept by the parent company, or returns
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

.

the parent companyfinancialstatements are not in agreementwiththe accountingrecords
and returns; or

.
.

certain disclosuresof Directors' remuneration specified by laware not made;or
we have not received all the information and explanationswe requirefor our audit.

Responsibilitiesof Directors

As explainedmore fully in the Directors' responsibilitiesstatement set out on page34, the Directors

are responsibleforthe preparationofthefinancialstatementsandfor beingsatisfiedthattheygive
a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the
parent company's abilityto continue as a goingconcern, disclosing,as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whetherthe financialstatements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
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guaranteethat an audit conducted in accordancewith ISAs(UK) will alwaysdetect a material
misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilitiesfor the audit of the financial statements is located on the

Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc. org. uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor's report.
Use of our report

This report is made solely to the parent company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 ofthe Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the parent company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's

report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibilityto anyoneotherthanthe parent companyandthe parent company's members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Daniel Taylor (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London, UK

8 July2019

BDOLLPis a limited liability partnership registered in Englandand Wales (with registered number
OC305127).
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6 - Financial Statements
ConsolidatedStatement of Comprehensive Income
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019

30 April 2018
£'000

Notes
Revenue

5

Other operating income
Total income

£'000
24, 516
14
24, 530

22, 155

22, 137
18

Administrative expenses
Operating profit before non-recurring items

6

(20,264)

(19, 137)

4,266

3,018

Non-recurring items

8

(1,095)

Operating profit
Finance income

3, 171
28

Profit before taxation

3, 199

32
3,050

Taxation

9

Profit attributableto equity shareholders
Total comprehensive income for the year

3,018

(875)

(615)

2, 324
2, 324

2,435

1. 85
1. 65

2. 11

2, 435

Earningsper share (pence)
Basic

10

Diluted

10

There are no items of other comprehensive income.
All results derive from continuing operations.
The notes on pages 49 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Note

31 March

30April

2019
£'000

2018
£'000

487

445
121
388

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Financial assets held at fair value
Deferred tax asset

11
12
13
15

Total non-current assets

13, 644

691
428
15, 250

954

17

8, 541
1, 111

9, 242
646

18

4, 659

4, 521

assets

14, 311

Total assets

29,561

14,409
15,363

63

73

8,065

6, 918

498

298
739
7,955

Current assets

Trade and other receivables
Current assets held at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current

Non-Current liabilities
Provisions

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Corporation taxation
Borrowings

20
8,563

Total current liabilities
Equity

Share capital
Share premium
Capital redemption reserve

22
23

1,688
575

1, 180
768
452

Own shares held

24

(1, 636)

(676)
(54)

23

10, 482

EBT reserve

Merger relief reserve
Share based payments reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

292
9,534
20, 935
29, 561

247
5, 418
7, 335

15,363

These FinancialStatementswere approved and authorisedfor issue bythe Board of Directorson 8
July 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

^
Tom Hayward
Chief Financial Officer

The notes on pages 49 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Company Statement of Financial Position
31 March

2019
Note

£'000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries

14

Total non-current assets

23, 404

23,404

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

17
18

Cash and cash equivalents

156
105

Total current
assets

261
23, 665

Total assets
Non-Current liabilities

34

Provisions

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

19

Corporation taxation
Amounts due to subsidiaries

21

Total current liabilities

69
13
2, 894
2, 976

Equity

Share capital
Share premium

22

Merger relief reserve

23

23

Share based payments reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

1, 688
575

16,612
18
1,762
20, 655
23, 665

TheCompany haselected to take the exemption underSection408ofthe CompaniesAct 2006not
to present the Company Statement of Comprehensive Income. The loss after taxation attributable
to the company in the period ended 31 March 2019 was £1,041,528.
These Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 8
July and were signed on its behalf by:

r
Tom Hayward
Chief Financial Officer

The notes on pages 49 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30 April 2018
£'000

3, 199

3, 050

242

221

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Depreciation

Amortisation of intangible assets

56

30

Finance income

(28)

(32)

Share based payments charge
Net fair value gains recognised in profit or loss

100

85

(155)

(114)

Payments received of non-cash assets

(218)

(161)

3, 196

3,079

778
109

(2,366)

Changes in working capital:

Decrease/(increase)in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease) in provisions

432

(10)

(68)

4,073

1,077

(465)

(796)

(355)
(637)

2,812

85

(3, 592)
(249)
(30)

(Ill)
(85)

70
28

188
32

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Purchaseof own shares by EBT
Sale of own share by EBT
Equity dividends paid

(3,773)

24

(1, 260)

(620)

693

40

(1, 635)

(1,051)

Proceeds from the issue of new shares net of costs

3, 665
375

25

(739)

739

1,099

(867)
(758)

Cash generated from operations
Net cash payments for current asset investments
held at fairvalue through profit or loss
Tax paid
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchaseof intangible assets
Proceeds on sale of investments
Interest received

Proceeds from exercise of options
Proceeds from borrowings
Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The notes on pages 49 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Company Statement of Cash Flows
Period ended
31 March 2019

£'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before non-recurring items

53

(1,095)
(1,042)

Non-recurring items
Profit before taxation

Changesin workingcapital:
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables

(156)
70
33

Increase in provisions

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends paid

(1,095)

Proceeds from the issue of new shares net of costs

3, 665
124

Proceedsfrom exercise of options
Proceed from intercompany loans
Net cash outflow from financingactivities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(5, 252)
(5,252)
(231)

2,894
6,452
105
105
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Consolidated Statement of Changesin Equity

Share
Group
Balance at 1 May 2017

Capital
£'000
1, 175

Capital
Redemption

Shares

EBT

Retained

Total

Reserve

Held

Reserve

Reserve

Reserve

Earnings

Equity

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

452

(96)

(39)

£'000
4, 014

£'000

748

£'000
167

6,421

2,450

2, 435

Share
Premium

Own

Merger
Relief

Share Based
Payment

(15)

Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners:

(580)

Transfer of own shares

(580)
85

Share based payments charge

(1-051)

(1,051)

(5)

5

25

80

(1,046)

(1, 521)

247

5,418

7,335
2,324

Dividends

Share options exercised
Balanceat 30 April 2018
Total comprehensive income for the period

5

20

5

20

1, 180

768

452

(580)
(676)

(54)

85

54

2, 270

Transactions with owners:

(960)

Transfer of own shares

Issue of share capital

134

Share issue costs

(960)

3, 616

3, 750

(85)

(85)

Shares issued as part of the
consideration in a business combination

334

9, 019

(452)

(1, 011)

Elimination in sharefor share acquisition
Share premium cancellation
Share based payments charge
Deferred tax on share based payments

9, 353

1,463

(3, 048)

3, 048
100

Dividends

Shareoptions exercised
Balance at 31 March 2019

40
508

335
(193)

1, 688

575

(55)
(452)

47

(960)
(1,636)

10,482
10,482

45
292

378

378

(1, 635)

(1, 635)

55
1,846
9, 534

375
11, 276
20, 935
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Share

Company
Balance on incorporation
Total comprehensive income for the period

Merger

Based

Relief

Payment

Retained

Total

Capital

Premium

Reserve

Reserve

Earnings

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Equity
£'000

(1,055)

(1,055)

Share

Share

Transactions with owners:

Issue of share capital

134

Share issue costs

3, 616

3, 750

(85)

(85)

Shares issued as part ofthe
consideration in a business combination

334

9, 019

9, 353

1,206

7,593

8, 799

Shares issued in share for

share acquisition
Share premium cancellation
Share based payments charge

3,048

(3,048)

Dividends

Shareoptions exercised
Balance at 31 March 2019

14

92

1,688
1,688

575
575

48

16, 612
16, 612

18
18
18

(231)

(231)

2, 817
1, 762

124
21,710
20,655

finnCap Group pic

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019

1. General information

finnCapGrouppic(the "Company")isa publiclimitedcompany, limited byshares, incorporatedand
domiciled in England and Wales. The company was incorporated on 28 August 2018. The registered

officeofthe Companyisat 60 NewBroadStreet, London,EC2M 1JJ,United Kingdom.Theregistered
company number is 11540126. The Company is listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the
LondonStock Exchange.
2. Accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation

Theseconsolidatedfinancialstatements contain information aboutthe Group and have been
prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are carried at fair

value. Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated and are presented in

poundssterling,whichisthe currencyofthe primaryeconomicenvironment in whichthe Group
operates.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International

FinancialReportingStandardsand InternationalAccountingStandardsasadoptedbythe European
Union andthe IFRSInterpretation Committee interpretations (collectively IFRSs),and in accordance
with applicable law.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRSrequires the use of certain

critical accounting estimates. It also requires Group management to exercise judgement in applying
the Group's accountingpolicies.The areaswheresignificantjudgements and estimates have been
made in preparingthe financial statements and their effect are disclosed in note 3.
b. Basis of consolidation

TheGroup'sconsolidatedfinancialstatements includethefinancialstatementsoftheCompanyand
all its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control if all three of the

followingelements are present: poweroverthe investee, exposureto variable returns from the
investee and the ability of the investor to use its power to affect those variable returns. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is established and de-consolidatedon the date
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Transactions and

balancesbetween membersofthe Groupareeliminatedon consolidationandconsistentaccounting
policies are used throughout the Group for the purposes of consolidation.

The share for share acquisition offinnCap Ltd byfinnCap Group pic was a corporate reorganisation
to facilitate the IPO on AIM and the subsequent purchase of Cavendish. As this was not a business

combination, merger accounting principles have been applied. The Group's prior year comparatives

consistofthe results andfinancialpositionoffinnCapLtdforthetwelve monthsended30April
2018, amended to conform to the use of IFRS.
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c. Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out in the Chairman's Statement. The Strategic Report and
Directors' Report describe the financial position of the Group; the Group's objectives, policies and
processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; and its exposure to
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Directors believe that the company has adequate resources to continue trading for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
Annual Report and Accounts.
d. New standards, amendments and interpretations

TheCompany hasadoptedthe following newstandardsand interpretations:
i)

IFRS15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018).

ii)

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments (effective 1 January 2018).

The adoption ofthe above standards had no material impact on the results or financial position of
the Group. At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new standards
and interpretations which have not been applied in this financial information were in issue but not
yet effective:

i)

IFRS16- Leases(effective 1 January2019)

The Group has several leases in place, principally property leases. These leases will need to be
assessed individually against the requirements of IFRS 16 before the impact of the standard can be

quantified.At a highlevel,the impactwill beto recogniseanassetandcorrespondingleaseliability
on the statement of financial position, for the operating lease commitments shown in note 26.

Thereareotherstandardsin issuewhichare not expectedto havean impactonthe Companyand
therefore have not been included in the list above.

e. Principal accounting policies
Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fairvalue ofthe considerationreceivedor receivableand represents
amounts receivable for services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts,
VATand other sales related taxes. Where consideration includesfinancial instruments or other noncash items, revenue is measured at fair value using an appropriate valuation method. Revenue
comprises:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Income from trading activities;
Corporate financefees and retainers; and
Other income, including trading profits from short term investments taken as
consideration for core services
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To determine whetherto recognise revenue, the Companyfollows a 5-step process as follows:
i)
ii)

Identifyingthe contract with a customer;
Identifying the performance obligations;

iii)
ii)
iii)

Determiningthe transaction price;
Allocatingthe transaction priceto the performance obligations;and
Recognisingrevenuewhen/as performanceobligation(s) are satisfied

The Company also considers whether it is acting as a principal or an agent for each type of revenue.
Revenue is recognised either at a point in time, or over time as the Company satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised services to its customers as described below.
(a) Income from trading activities

Incomefrom tradingactivities includescommissionsfrom agencydealingwhichare recognisedon
tradedate.Tradingactivitiesalsoincludegainsand losseson market making,withtrades recognised
on trade date, with corresponding financial assets and financial liabilities until trade settlement.

Market makingpositionsare revaluedto the closingmarket bid price(long positions)andofferprice
(short positions)on the LondonStockExchangeasappropriateat the periodend. Market making
revenues consist of the realised and unrealised profits and losses on financial assets and financial
liabilities, arrived at aftertaking into account attributable dividends. Dividend income from
investments is recognised when the shareholders' right to receive payment has been established.
(b) Corporate finance fees and retainers

Corporate finance transaction fees and commission are recognised at a point in time when, under

theterms ofthe contract,theconditionshavebeenunconditionallymet suchthatthe companyis
entitled to the fees specified. Corporatefinanceretainerfees, includingnominated adviserretainer
fees, are recognised overtime as the services are delivered.
(c) Other income
Revenue also includes the fair value of options and warrants over securities received as
consideration for corporate finance services rendered.
Contract costs includingcommissions and referral fees paid to introducers of business are shown in
administrative expenses.
Foreign currency

Transactionsinforeigncurrenciesaretranslated intothefunctionalcurrencyattheforeign exchange
rate rulingatthe dateofthetransaction. Monetaryassetsa nd liabilitiesdenominatedin foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss.
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Classification of instruments issued by the Company

Instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity (i. e. forming part of shareholders' funds)
only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

(i)

they include no contractual obligations upon the Companyto delivercashor other

financialassetsorto exchangefinancialassetsorfinancialliabilitieswithanotherparty
(ii)

underconditionsthat are potentially unfavourableto the Company; and
where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company's own equity instruments, it
is either a non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the

Company'sownequityinstrumentsor isa derivativethatwill besettled bytheCompany
exchanginga fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own
equity instruments.

Financialpayments associatedwith financial instruments that are classifiedin equity are dividends
and are recorded directly in equity.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.Cost includesthe

originalpurchasepriceofthe assetandthecostsattributableto bringingthe assetto its working
condition for its intended use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation

Depreciation is chargedto profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of

each partofan item of property, plantandequipment. Depreciationis providedonthefollowing
basis:

Fixtures, Fittings and Equipment

3-4 years straight line

Leasehold improvements

Over period of lease

It is assumed that all assets will be used until the end of their economic life.
Investments

Fixed asset investments are investments in subsidiaries and are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Cost is measure of the fair value of consideration paid for the investment.
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Intangibleassets
Trademarks, trade names and computer software and are stated at cost net of accumulated

amortisationand provisionforanyimpairmentinvalue. Amortisationis providedon the following
basis:

Computer software

2-4years straight line

Trade names

10 years straight line

Trademarks

held at cost less any provisions for impairment

Goodwill is recognised on consolidation as the difference betweenthe fair value of identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired and the purchase consideration. Goodwill has an indefinite life and is

assessedfor impairment at each reporting date.
Impairment of non-financialassets

At each reportingdate,the Group reviewsthe carryingamountsof itstangibleand intangibleassets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
anysuch indicationexists, the recoverable amount, beingthe higherof value in use andfairvalue

lesscoststo sell, ofthe assetisestimated in orderto determinethe extentofthe impairmentloss (if
any).

Whereit is not possibleto estimatethe recoverableamountofan individualasset,the impairment
test iscarriedout on the smallestgroupofassetsto whichit belongsforwhichthere areseparately
identifiablecashflows; its cashgeneratingunits ('CGUs'). Goodwillisallocatedon initial recognition
to eachofthe Group'sCGUsthat areexpectedto benefitfrom a businesscombinationthatgives rise
to the goodwill.

Ifthe recoverableamount ofan asset isestimatedto be lessthanthe carryingamount,thecarrying
amount ofthe asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an
expenseimmediately. Wherean impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carryingamount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. The reversal of the impairment
loss shall not increase the carrying amount of the asset above the carrying amount that would have

beendetermined (net ofamortisationordepreciation) had no impairment loss been recognisedfor
the asset in prior years. An impairment loss recognisedfor goodwill is not reversed.
Retirement benefits

TheCompanyoperates a definedcontribution schemefor UK-basedemployees. The amount
chargedto the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs and other post-retirement benefits
isthe contributions payable in respect of service in the year. Differencesbetween contributions

payableduringtheyearand contributionsactually paidareshownaseitheraccrualsor prepayments
in the balance sheet.
Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balancesheetwhenthe Companyhasa present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be

requiredto settle the obligation. Ifthe effect is material, provisionsare determined bydiscounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time

value of money and, whereappropriate,the risksspecificto the liability.
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Operatinglease payments

Operating leases are leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership related to
the asset are not transferred to the Company.
Payments made under operating leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the

lease. Leaseincentivesreceivedare recognisedasan integralpartofthetotal leaseexpense.
Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit
or loss exceptto the extentthat it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income or in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expectedtax payableon the taxable incomefor the year, usingtax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferredtax is provided on temporary differencesbetweenthe carryingamounts of assetsand

liabilitiesforfinancialreportingpurposesandthe amountsusedfortaxation purposes,exceptto the
extent that it arises on:

(i)

the initial recognition of goodwill;

(ii)

the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit other than in a business combination; and

(iii)

differencesrelatingto investments insubsidiariesto the extentthattheywill probably
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement

of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date.

A deferredtaxassetis recognisedonlyto the extentthat it is probablethatfuturetaxableprofitswill
be available againstwhichthe asset can be utilised.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.
Financial instruments
Financial assets

The Company's financial assets comprise trading investments, derivative financial instruments, trade
and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends upon the purpose for which they are acquired and their characteristic. Financial
assets are measured initially at their fair value.
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Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are held for trading, and are acquired

principallyfor sellingor repurchasing.Theseincludemarket makingpositionsvaluedat the closing
market bid price (long positions) or offer price (short positions) at the balance sheet date and

presented within current asset investments. The change in the value of investments held for trading
is recognised in the profit and loss account. Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on
trade date with the associated financial assets and liabilities presented as market making
counterparty debtors and creditors up to settlement date.

Non-current financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are derivative assets comprising
equity shares, options and warrants that are initially accounted for and measured at fair value on the
date the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the derivative contract and
subsequently measured at fair value. The gain or loss on re-measurement is taken to the income
statement within revenue, as part of net trading gains or losses. Fair values are obtained from
quoted prices prevailing in active markets, including recent market transactions and valuation

techniques includingdiscounted cashflow models and option pricing models as appropriate. Thefair

valuesofthe warrantsare determined usingthe BlackScholesmodel.Thesevaluationtechniques
maximise the use of observable market data, such as the quoted share price. The variables used in

the valuation include exercise price, expected life, share price at the date of grant, price volatility,
dividend yield and risk free interest rate. Derivatives are included in assets when their fair value is
positive and liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Gains and losses from the financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss are presented
within revenue as incomefrom tradingactivities, or other operating incomefortrading profit on
short-term investments.

Financialassetsalso includetrade and other receivables and cashandcashequivalents. Tradeand
other receivables are amounts duefrom customers for services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
Trade and other receivables are initially recorded at fair value and thereafter are measured at
amortised cost usingthe effective interest rate.

Impairment provisionsfor trade receivablesare recognised basedon the simplified approachwithin
IFRS9 using the lifetime expected credit losses. During this process the probability of the nonpayment oftrade receivables is assessed.This probability is then multiplied bythe amount ofthe
expected loss arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for the trade
receivables. For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a

separate provision accountwiththe loss beingrecognisedwithin administrativeexpenses in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On confirmation that the trade receivable will
not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated
provision.
Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables including market making
counterparty creditors and provisions. The classificationoffinancial liabilities at initial recognition
depends upon the purpose for which they are acquired and their characteristic.
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Non-derivativefinancialliabilitiesare initially recognised at fairvalue less any directly attributable
transaction costs. After initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The entities' borrowings, finance leases, trade and most other payables
fall into this category of financial instruments. The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire.
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference
between cost and redemption value beingrecognised in profit or loss overthe period ofthe
borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers and are initially recorded at fair value and thereafter at amortised
cost usingthe effective interest rate method.
Segmental reporting

The Group is managed as an integrated corporate advisory, M&A advisory and stockbroking business
and although there are different revenue streams, the Group's activities are considered to be

subjectto similareconomiccharacteristics. Consequently, the Group is managedas one business
unit whichis reported in a mannerconsistentwiththe internal reportingto the Board of Directors,
which has been identified as the chief operating decision maker.
Share capital
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.
Share premium

Share premium includesany premiums received on issue of sharecapital. Anytransaction costs
associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.
Own shares held by the finnCap Limited Employee Benefit Trust

Transactionsofthe Group-sponsored Employee BenefitTrust aretreated as beingthoseofthe
Group and are therefore reflected in these consolidatedfinancialstatements, In particular, the
Trust's purchases and sales of shares in the Company are debited and credited to equity.
Share-basedpayments

The Group operates equity-settled share-basedremuneration plansfor its employees. None of the
Group's plans are cash-settled. All goodsandservices received in exchangefor the grant of any
share-based payment are measured at their fair values using the Black Scholes model.

Whereemployees are rewarded usingshare-basedpayments, the fairvalue of employees' services is
determined indirectly by referenceto the fairvalue ofthe equity instruments granted.Thisfairvalue
is appraised at the grant date and excludesthe impactof non-marketvesting conditions(for
example profitability and sales growth targets and performance conditions).
All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in profit or loss with a

corresponding credit to equity. Where vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense
is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the numberof share
options expected to vest.
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Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that
the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any adjustment to

cumulativeshare-basedcompensationresultingfrom a revisionis recognisedinthe currentyear.
The number of vested options ultimately exercised by holders does not impact the expense recorded
in any year.

Upon exerciseof shareoptions, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributabletransaction

costs, areallocatedto sharecapital upto the nominal(or par)valueofthe sharesissuedwithany
excess being recorded as share premium.
Retained earnings
Retained earnings includes all current and prior year retained profits and losses.
Dividends

Dividendsare recognisedwhenthey become legally payable. Inthe caseof interim dividendsto
equity shareholders, this is when declared by the Directors. In the case of final dividends, this is
when approved by the shareholders at the AGM.
3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors have made the following judgements:
Impairment of non-current assets

The Directors apply judgement in the assessment asto whether the company's tangible and

intangibleassetsareimpairedat eachreportingdate,consideringseveralfactorsincludingthe
economic viability and expected future financial performance of the asset.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors have made the following estimations:
Estimatedfairvalues offinancialderivativeassetswherethere is no quoted price
The Group holds options and warrants in unlisted entities which are not in an active market and
cannot be valued by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments. The Directors

usejudgementto selectvaluationtechniquesand make assumptionsthat are based on observable
market data, as far as possible, in respect of equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date.
4. Risk Management

The main risks arising from the holding of financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity and market
risk. Market riskcomprises currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The Directors review
and agree policies for managing each of these risks are as summarised below.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that clients or other counterparties to a financial instrument will cause a

financial loss byfailingto meet their obligation.
Credit risk exposure therefore arises as a result oftrading, investing, and financing activities. The

primarysourceofcredit riskfaced bythe Companyisthatarisingfrom thesettlement ofequity
trades carried out in the normal course of business.
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Thecredit riskon a particularequitytrade receivableis measuredbyreferenceto theoriginal
amount owed to the Company less any partial payments less any collateral to which the Company is
entitled.

Credit risk exposures are managed by the use of individual counterparty limits applied initially on the
categorisationofthe counterparty and assessedfurther accordingto the results of relevant financial
indicators and/or newsflow.

Trade receivables relatingto fees due on the Company's corporatefinanceand advisoryactivities
are monitored on a monthly basis. Formal credit procedures includecheckingclient creditworthiness
before startingto trade, approval of material trades and chasingof overdue accounts.

TheGroup'scashandcashequivalentsare heldwithHSBCBankpic. NationalWestminsterBankpic
and Pershing.

31 March

30 April

Rating

2019
£'000

AAAA-

691
2,806

Trade debtors

Unrated

Other debtors

Unrated

2, 864
1, 944

3, 145

AA-

2,629

4, 521

105

AA-

1, 138
892
13, 225

105

Risk exposure
Non-current asset investments

Market making counterparty debtors

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents

A

10,934

Total

2018

Company
31 March
2019
£'000

£'000
388
4,419
752

The maximum exposure to credit risk on trade debtors at the end of the reporting period is equal to
the balance sheet figure. In addition, the Company has credit risk exposure to the gross value of

unsettledtrades(on a deliveryversus payment basis)at its agencysettlement agent(Pershing, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Bank of New York Mellon Corporation), which were £9. 6 million (2018:
£35m) at the balancesheet date. Thevast majority are settled withintwo days.
Liquidityrisk
Liquidity risk is the risk that obligations associatedwith financial liabilities will not be met. The
Company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by considering the maturity of both its financial

assets and projected cash flows from operations, The Company's objective is to maintain adequate
cash resources with a material contingencyto meet its obligationsastheyfall due.
The table below analyses the entities' non-derivative and derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual

maturity date. Derivativefinancial liabilities are included in the analysis iftheir contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of cash flows. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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Less than
three months

£'000
As at 31 March 2019
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

3, 473

As at 30 April 2018
Borrowings

739
4, 161

Trade and other payables

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fairvalue or future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

becauseof changesin foreign exchangerates.There are no significantcurrency risks at the balance
sheet date.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate becauseof changesin market interest rates. There are no significantinterest rate risksat
the balance sheet date.

Other price risk
Other price risk is the riskthat the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate becauseof changesin the market prices (otherthan those arisingfrom interest rate risk or
currency risk) whetherthose changesare caused byfactors specificto the individualfinancial
instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The

Group managesmarket price risk by monitoringthe value of its financial instruments daily.The risk
of future losses is limited to the fair value of investments as at the balance sheet date.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, net profit for the period ended 31 March 2019 would

have been £180khigher/lower(2018:£103khigher/lower) dueto the changein value of
investments held at fair value through the profit and loss. The Group's exposure to equity price risk
is closely monitored by senior management on a daily basis.
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Summaryof financialassets and liabilities by category
The carryingamount offinancialassetsand liabilitiesrecognisedat the balancesheet dateof the
reporting periods under review may also be categorised as follows:
Group
2019

£'000

Company

2018
£'000

2019
£'000

Financialassets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

691
1, 111
1,802

1,034

Market making counterparty debtors

2,806

4, 419

Trade debtors
Other debtors

2, 864
1, 944

Cash and cash equivalents

4, 659

752
3, 145
4, 521

Non-current financial assets - investments
Current asset investments
Total non-current

388
646

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Total current

12, 273

Total financial assets

14,075

105

12,837
13,871

105
105

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Amounts due to subsidiaries

(2,894)

Borrowings

(3,473)

(739)
(2, 762)
(1,399)
(4,900)

(12)
(2,906)

10,602

8,971

(2,801)

Market-making counterparty creditors
Trade and other payables

(2,496)

Total current
Net financial assets and liabilities

(977)

Financialinstruments measured at fairvalue at the reportingdate bythe level in the fairvalue
hierarchy are categorised as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted equity investments - fair value is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date.
Level 2 - None.

Level 3-Warrants and privatecompany investments-fair value is determined using the either the
value of a recent investment or the Black Scholes model as deemed most appropriate.
The amounts are basedon the values recognisedin the statement offinancial position.
Current asset investments are all level 1.
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Movements in non-current financial assets during the period were as shown below:

Level 1
£'000
At start of year
Net (losses)/gains recognised
in other operating income
Additions

1

Level 3
£'000
387

171
218

Disposals
At end of year

390

(16)

31 March
2019
£'000
388

30April
Level 1

Level 3

2018

£'000

£'000
281

£'000
301

20

155
218

6

108

1

160

114
161

(70)

(70)

(26)

(162)

(188)

301

691

1

387

388

Level 3 financial instruments comprise investments or warrants in unquoted companies. The

determinationoffairvalue requiresjudgement, particularlyin determiningwhetherchangesin fair
value haveoccurredsincethe lastobservabletransactioninthe company'sshares. In makingthis
judgementthe Companyevaluatesamongstotherfactorsthe materialityofeachindividualholding,
the stage of the company's development, financial information of each company and relevant
discussions with the company's management.
Capital management policies and procedures

TheGroup's capital managementobjectives are:
.
.

To ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going concern; and
To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

Thisisachievedthroughclose managementofworkingcapitalandregularreviewsof pricing.
Decisionson whetherto raisefunding usingdebt or equity are made bythe Board basedon the
requirements of the business.
Capital for the reporting period under review is shown as total equity in the balance sheet. This was

£20, 935, 000 as at 31 March 2019 (30 April 2018: £7, 335, 000).
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5. Segmental Analysis
The Group is managed as an integrated full-service financial sen/ices group and the different

revenue streams are considered to be subject to similar economic characteristics. Consequently, the
Group is managed as one business unit.

Thetradingoperationsofthe GroupcompriseofCorporateAdvisoryand Broking, M&AAdvisoryand
Institutional Stockbroking. The Group's revenues are derived from activities conducted in the UK,
although several of its corporate and institutional investors and clients are situated overseas. All
assets of the Group reside in the UK.
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30 April 2018
£'000

Revenues

5, 922
11, 950
17, 872

Retainers
Transactions

Corporate advisory and broking
Sell Side M&A advisory
Institutional Stockbroking

5, 727

11,325
17, 052

3, 229
3,415

Total Revenue

24,516

Services transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over a period of time

16,891
7, 625
24,516

Total Revenue

5,085
22, 137
13,692
8,445
22, 137

Major customers

There are no customersthat individuallyaccountedfor more thanten percent oftotal revenues.
6. Expensesby Nature
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30April 2018

14, 451

13, 018

Depreciation

242

Amortisation

56
467

221
30
375

Employee benefit expense

Operating lease payments
Foreign exchange (gains)
Other expenses
Total administrative expenses
Audit Services

£'000

(55)

(4)

5, 103
20, 264

5, 497

19,137

115

23

Other Services

211

IPO Reporting Accountants

Regulatory reporting

7

Total auditors' remuneration

333
62
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7. Staff Costs

Employee benefit expenses (including the Directors):
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs

Share based payments
Total administrative expenses
Average number of employees:
Corporate broking and finance
Sales and trading

Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30 April 2018

12, 829

11,279

1,237

1, 372

285
100
14,451

282

£'000

85
13, 018

54

46
11
14

9

Research

14
29
106

Administration

Total number of employees

21
92

Key Management Personnel
The Board includes all employees considered to be key management personnel.
Highest Paid Director

Total Emoluments

Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30 April 2018

493,703

461, 030

£'000

Details ofthe remuneration for each Board members are disclosed in the Remuneration Report on
page 25.
8. Non-recurringitems
Period ended
31 March 2019

Year ended

30April 2018

£'000
1,095

Group formation costs

£'000

Non-recurringitems relate to transaction costsfrom the acquisitionoffinnCapLtd, Cavendish
Corporate Finance (UK) Limited and Cavendish Corporate Finance LLPas well as the cost related to

listingon the Alternative Investment Market. At the period end, management have reviewedthe
total costs of the acquisition and IPO, and in line with IAS32, has allocated £85ktothe Share
Premium Account, beingthe appropriate proportion that relates to the issue of new shares. The
balance above has been recognised as a non-recurring item in the Consolidated Statement of
Income.
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9. Taxation

Factors that may affect future tax charges
Changes to the UK corporation tax rates were substantively enacted as part of Finance Bill 2015 and

FinanceBill 2016. These included reductionsto the main rate to reducethe rate to 17 percentfrom
1 April 2020.
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30April 2018
£'000

Analysis of charge in the period
Current tax

Current taxation chargefor the period
Adjustments made in respect of prior periods

950

628

(25)

3

Total current tax

925

631

(50)

(16)

875

615

Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30April 2018

3, 199

3,050

608

580

342

51

(50)
(9)

(20)

9

9

(25)

3

Deferred taxation

Origination and reversal of timing differences
Total tax charge

£'000

Reconciliation of total tax charge
Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation multiplied by the standard rate

of UKtaxation (19%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Deduction for the exercise of employee share options
Income not taxable for tax purposes
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation
Adjustments made in respect of prior periods
Adjustments made in respect of prior periods -deferred

(5)

(6)

tax

Effect of change in tax rates on deferred tax
Total tax charge

3

875

64
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10. Earnings per share
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30April 2018

2, 324

2, 435

125, 845, 121

115, 433, 133

14, 927, 048

3, 877, 457

140,772, 169

119,310,590

1.85

2. 11

1. 65

2.04

£'000

Earnings(£'000)
Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings
per share being profit for the year attributable to
equity shareholders
Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares for the purposes
of basicearnings per share
Weighted average dilative effect of conditional share
awards

Weighted average number of shares for the purposes
of diluted earnings per share
Profit per ordinary share (pence)
Basic profit per ordinary share
Diluted profit per ordinary share

The shares held by the Group's Employee Benefit Trust, see note 24, have been excluded from the
calculation of earnings per share.

The EarningsPerShare is impacted bythe non-recurringcostsfrom the IPOand acquisitionof
Cavendish, which depress the EPS by 0. 87p
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12. Intangibles
Other

Computer

intangibles
£'000

software

15

436

5

80

20

516

£'000

Goodwill
£'000

Total
£'000

Cost

As at 1 May2017
Additions

As at 1 May2018

451
85
536
30

30

Additions

Acquired through business combinations

214

As at 31 March 2019

234

546

13, 335

13, 549

13, 335

14, 115

Amortisation

As at 1 May2017
Charge for the year
As at 1 May 2018

(20)
(20)

Charge for the period
As at 31 March 2019

(385)
(30)
(415)
(36)

(385)
(30)
(415)
(56)

(451)

(471)

Net Book Value

As at 30April 2017

15

51

66

As at 30 April 2018

20

101

121

214

95

As at 31 March 2019

13, 335

13, 644

On 5 December2018,the Companyacquiredall the sharecapital of CavendishCorporate Finance

(UK)Limitedandall ofthe partnershiprightsofCavendishCorporateFinanceLLP.TheCompanyhas
recognised goodwill, trade name and technology assets arising from the acquisition. Intangible
assets are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition has been assessed for impairment by calculating the net
present value offuture cashflowsfrom the Cavendishentities as cashgeneratingunits. The
assessment was carried out over four years assuming consistent performance as in the last group
budget. The cashflows were discounted at the Group's weighted average costs of capital. No
impairment has been recognised during the period.
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13. Investments

31 March

£'000

30 April
2018
£'000

388
218
155

301
161
114

(70)

(188)

691

388

2019
Financial assets held at fair value

through profit and loss
As at 1 May 2018
Acquisition of shares in listed companies
Change in market value recognised in the profit and loss
Disposals
As at 31 March 2019

The shares acquired during the period relate to the settlement of a corporate finance fee. As a noncash item, this does not appear in the consolidated statement of cashflows.

Each investment is revalued at each reporting date, The change in value is recognised through the

statement ofcomprehensiveincome. All itemswereclassifiedas held atfairvalue upon recognition
and there have been no reclassifications during the period.
Sensitivity analysis

These financial assets include warrants valued at 31 March 2019 at £1, 751 (30 April 2018: £98, 774).
Ifthe future volatility of the quoted equity price had been 5 percent to 20 percent basis points
higheror lower, the impact on fair value of the warrants would have been immaterial.
14. Investments in subsidiaries
31 March

2019
£'000
Opening

Sharefor share exchange

8, 799
14, 605
23, 404

Acquisitions

Carryingamount

Proportion of

Country of
incorporation and

principal place of
Name

business

ownership
and voting
rights at 31
March 2019

finnCap Ltd
Cavendish Corporate Finance
(UK) Limited

Financial services

United Kingdom

100%

Holding company

Cavendish Corporate Finance LLP

Financial services

United Kingdom
United Kingdom

100%
100%
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On 26 November2018,the Companyacquired all the sharecapital offinnCapLtd in exchangeforthe
issue of 120, 563, 815 shares. In accordance with IAS27:13, the investment has been recognised at
the carrying amount of the net assets of finnCap Ltd and the excessabovethe nominal sharevalue

has been recognised in the merger relief reserve. The registered office ofthe finnCap Ltd is at 60
New Broad Street, London, EC2M LIJ, United Kingdom.

On 5 December2018,the Companyacquired all the sharecapitalof CavendishCorporate Finance
(UK) Limited and all of the partnership rights of Cavendish Corporate Finance LLPfor consideration
of £14, 604, 280 satisfied by £5, 252, 327 in cash and the issue of 33, 403, 406 shares. The excess

considerationabovethe nominal sharevalue has been recognised in the merger relief reserve. The
registered office of both acquired entities is 40 at Portland Place, London, W1B 1NB, United
Kingdom.
15. Deferred taxation

Deferredtaxassetsand liabilitiesare recognisedwherethe carryingamountforfinancialreporting
purposes differs from the tax base. Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances
where it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the difference can be utilised.
31 March

30 April

2019

2018
£'000

£'000
Opening balance

11

Origination and reversal of temporary difference expense
Adjustments made in respect of prior periods
Recognised in equity
Closing balance

50

(5)
(6)

378
428

Deferred taxation for the group relates to timing difference on the taxation relief on the exercise of
options. The amount of the asset is determined usingtax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted when the deferred tax assets are expected to be recovered.
16. Business combinations during the period

On 5 December2018,the Companyacquired all the sharecapitalof CavendishCorporate Finance
(UK) Limitedand all ofthe partnership rights of CavendishCorporate FinanceLLPfor consideration
of £14, 605, 280, satisfied by £5, 252, 327 in cash and the issue of 33, 403, 406 shares. The excess

consideration abovethe nominal sharevalue has been recognised in the merger relief reserve.
The principal reason for this acquisition was to acquire the trade, brand and accumulated experience
of Cavendish,enablingthe Groupto become a full-service financialservicesgroupfor ambitious
growth companies. The Group also expects to further develop both existing and new revenue lines.
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Detailsofthe fairvalue of identifiableassetsand liabilities acquired, purchaseconsiderationand
goodwill are as follows:
Book

Fair

value

Adjustment

value

£'000

£'000

£'000

114
100

114

Trade name
Software

35
530
1, 660

Property, plant and equipment
Receivables

Cash
Payables

530

1, 660

(1, 169)
1,056

Total net assets

100
35

(1, 169)
214

1, 270

Fairvalue of consideration paid

Cash

£'000
5, 252

Shares

9,353

Total consideration

14, 605

Goodwill (note 12)

13, 335

On acquisition. Cavendish Corporate FinanceLLPhad trade receivables of£281k. All contract
receivables are considered to be recoverable.

Costs related to the above acquisitions and the initial public listing are shown as non-recurring items
in the statement of comprehensive income statement.
The main factors leadingto the recognition of goodwill are:

.

The presence of certain intangibleassets, such asthe assembledworkforceof the acquired

.

Thefactthat a lowercost of capital is ascribedto the expectedfuture cashflowsofthe

entity, which do not qualifyfor separate recognition
entire operation acquired than might be to individual assets

Since the acquisition date. Cavendish has contributed £3. 2m to Group revenues and £0. 8m to group
profit before tax. Ifthe acquisition had occurred on 1 May 2018, Group revenue would have been

£31. 4m. Due to the partnership structure of Cavendish, is not possible to state the impact on profit
for this period.
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17. Trade and other receivables
31 March

30April

2019
£'000

2018
£'000

Trade receivables

2, 864

Market marketing counterparty debtors

2,806

752
4,419

Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

927
1, 944

Total trade receivables

8,541

Group

926
3, 145
9, 242

Company

Prepayments and accrued income

156

The Directorsconsiderthat the carryingamount oftrade and other receivablesapproximatesthe fair
value due to short maturities.

TheGroupappliesthe IFRS9 simplifiedapproachto measuringexpectedcredit losses using a
lifetime expected credit loss provision fortrade receivables and contract assets. To measure

expectedcreditlosseson a collective basis,trade receivablesandcontract assetsaregroupedbased
on similar credit risk and aging. The contract assets have similar risk characteristics to the trade
receivables for similar types of contracts.

The expected loss rates are based on the Group's historical credit losses experienced overthe three
year period priorto the period end. The historical loss rates arethen adjusted for current and

forward-lookinginformationon macroeconomicfactorsaffectingthe Group'scustomers.TheGroup
hasidentifiedthegrossdomesticproduct(GDP),unemployment rate and inflation rateasthe key
macroeconomicfactors in the countrieswherethe Groupoperates. Basedon the historicallylow
level of irrecoverable debts, the Board haveconcludedthat there is no requirement for additional
provisions.

31 March

2019
£'000

30April
2018
£'000

Group

Movements in the impairment allowance for trade receivables:
At start of year

28

203
13

(28)

(188)

Provision for credit losses

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible
Acquired through business combinations
At end of year

12
12

The carryingamounts of the entity's trade and other receivables are all denominated in GBP.
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Contract assets

Contract assets arise when the Group performs services for a customer in advance of consideration

being received or due. Contract assets comprise of retainer fee income accrued for ongoing advice
given to retained clients.
18. Cash and cash equivalents
31 March

30 April

2019
£'000

£'000

4, 659

4,521

4, 376
123

4, 272

2018

Group

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand

Cashand cashequivalentswere held in the followingcurrencies:
UK Pound
United States Dollar

160
4,659

Euros

Total cash and cash equivalents

157
92
4, 521

Company

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand

Cashandcashequivalentswere held in the followingcurrencies:
UK Pound

105

The Group's Employee Benefit Trust has a cash balanceof£128k under control of the Trustees.
19. Trade and other payables
31 March

30April

2019
£'000

2018
£'000

655
481

989

3, 968
143
2,496

2, 192
168
2, 762

322
8, 065

410

Group
Trade payables

Social security
Accruals
Deferred income

Market marketing counterparty creditors
Other creditors

Total trade and other payables
Company
Accruals
Other creditors

57
12

Total trade and other payables

69

72

397

6,918
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The Directors consider that the carrying amount oftrade and other payables approximates the fair
value due to short maturities. All trade and other payables were held in GBP.
Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities arise where consideration is received for which the Group has an obligation to
perform a service for a customer. Contract liabilities comprise of retainer fee deferred income for
ongoing advicegiven to retained clients.
20. Borrowings
31 March

2019
£'000

30 April
2018
£'000

Current

Bank loans and overdrafts

739

Amount repayable
Within one year

739

The above carryingvalues ofthe borrowingsequateto the fairvalues.
31 March
2019
£'000
Current borrowings
Brought forward

30April
2018
£'000

739

Cashflows

(739)

739
739

Closing balance

Theoverdraft balanceat 30thApril 2018relatedto thefundingof unsettledtrades byPershing
through our Model A Settlement Agreement. As at 31st March 2019, there was no such balance.
21. Amounts due to subsidiaries

31 March
2019
£'000
Company
Amounts due to subsidiaries

2,894

Amounts due to subsidiaries incur no interest and are repayable on demand.
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22. Share Capital
31 March

Opening
Issue of shares on exercise of options
Sharefor share exchange
Issue of new shares

30 April

2019

2018

Number

Number

117,951, 100
2, 702,715
120,653, 815

117,451, 100
500, 000

117,951, 100

11

1,380,000
13,392, 857
33,403,406

Issue of shares on exercise of options
Issue of shares on admission to AIM

Issue of shares through business combinations
Closing

168, 830, 089

117, 951, 100

Issued,called up and fully paid

Ordinaryshares of £0. 01 each

Number

£'000

168, 830, 089

1, 688

TheCompanyhasoneclassofordinarysharesin issue,whichare non-redeemable,carryonevote
per share and have no right to dividends other than those recommended by the Directors, and an
unlimited rightto share in the surplus remainingon a windingup.

Asat30April2018finnCapLtd had 117,951, 100sharesin issue.Priorto theformationofthe Group,
2, 702, 715 shares were issued as the result ofthe exercise of options for finnCap Ltd shares.
One share was issued in finnCap Group pic on incorporation on the 28 August 2018 and a further ten

shares were issued on the 24 September 2018. On 26 November 2018, the Company acquired all
the share capital of finnCap Ltd in exchangefor the issue of 120,653,815 shares,
On 5 December 2018, the Company issued 13, 392, 857 shares to finance the cash consideration for

the acquisition of Cavendish Corporate Finance (UK) Limited and the partnership rights of Cavendish
Corporate Finance LLP. In addition, the Company issued 1, 380, 000 shares as a result of the exercising

ofoptionsand 33,403,406sharesin connectionwiththe acquisitionofall ofthe sharecapitalof
CavendishCorporateFinance(UK) Limitedandall ofthe partnershiprightsofCavendishCorporate
Finance LLP.

Costs related to the above acquisitions and the initial public listing are shown as non-recurring items
in the income statement. The issue costs of new shares have been offset against the share premium
reserve.

74

finnCap Group pic

Annual Report and FinancialStatements 2019

23. Reserves

Merger relief reserve
The merger relief reserve represents:
.

the difference between net book value offinnCap Ltd and the nominal value of the shares

issued due to the share for share exchange on the acquisition of finnCap Ltd. Upon
consolidation, part of the merger reserve is eliminated to recognise the pre-acquisition share
premium and capital redemption reserve offinnCap Ltd; and

.

the difference between the fair value and nominal value of shares issued for the acquisition
of CavendishCorporate Finance(UK) Limitedand CavendishCorporate FinanceLLP

This reserve is not distributable.
Share Premium

Share premium represents the excess of over the nominal value of new shares issued less the costs

ofissuingtheshares.At a general meeting heldon 28 November2018shareholderspasseda special
resolution approving the cancellation ofthe entire share premium account. On 15 January 2019, the
HighCourt approvedthe transferof£3,048, 649from the share premium accountto distributable
reserves.

24. Own shares held

The value of own shares held is the cost of shares purchased the Group's Employee Benefit Trust.

TheTrust wasestablished with the authority to acquire shares in finnCap Group picand isfunded by
the Group.

31 March

30April

2019

2018

Number

Number

At the start of year

4,503,170

638, 578

Movement

7, 787, 836

3,864,592

12,291,006

4, 503, 170

Shares held

At the end of year

Prior to the share for share acquisition of finnCap Ltd by finnCap Group pic, the Group's Employee
Benefit Trust purchased and sold shares in finnCap Ltd. Upon completion of the acquisition, the

Trust's holdingwasconverted intofinnCapGrouppicsharesandfuturetransactionswerein finnCap
Groups pic shares.

During the year, the Group's Employee Benefit Trust purchased 10, 903, 772 ordinary shares at a
weighted average price of £0. 116 (2018: 4, 131, 259 at a weighted average price of £0. 15). Total

considerationforthesepurchaseswas£1,259,229 (2018:£619,689)andthesepurchasesrepresent
6. 46% of the ordinary called up share capital (2018:3. 50%).

Inaddition,theGroup's EmployeeBenefitTrustsold 3, 115,936ordinarysharesat a weighted
averagepriceof£0.223 (2018:266,667 ordinarysharesat a weightedaveragepriceof£0. 15).Total
consideration for these sales was £693, 354 (2018: £40, 000) and these sales represent 1. 85% of the
ordinary called up share capital (2018:0. 23%).
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25. Share Based Payments

The Companyhasa shareoption schemefor employees ofthe Group. Ifoptions remain unexercised

aftera periodof4 or7 yearsfromthe dateofgrant,thenthe optionsexpirewithoutvalue. Options
areforfeited ifthe employee leavesthe Group beforethe optionsvest. Detailsofthe shareoptions
outstanding are as follows:
Weighted
average

Outstanding at beginning of the period
Granted in finnCap Ltd
Exercised in finnCap Ltd
Forfeited in finnCap Ltd
Exchanged for options in finnCap Group pic
Granted in finnCap Group pic
Exercised in finnCap Group pic
Outstanding at the end of the period
Exercisableat the period end

Number of

exercise

share

price

options

£

23, 796, 511

0. 109

5,800,000

0. 150
0. 101

(2, 702,715)
(913, 488)
25, 980, 308

2, 685,207
(1, 380, 000)
27,285,515

0. 104
0. 119
0. 226
0. 078
0. 132

5, 035, 714

Options overfinnCap Ltd shares were swapped for options overfinnCap Group pic upon the
acquisition finnCap Ltd by the Company.
The options outstanding at the period end were:

Grant date
26 November 2018
26 November 2018

shares

price

Vesting

Exercise

under option

per share

period

2, 685,714
1, 250,000

0. 05

Up to 4 years

0,06
0. 10

Up to 4 years
Up to 4 years

period
Up to 7 years
Up to 7 years
Up to 7 years

0. 13
0, 15
0. 14

Up to 4 years

Up to 7 years

Up to 4 years

Up to 7 years

Up to 4 years

Up to 7 years

0. 28
0, 23
0. 15

Up to 4 years

Up to 7 years
Up to 4 years
Up to 7 years

26 November 2018

3, 544, 594
5, 870, 000
5, 800, 000
5, 450, 000

05 December 2018

1,000,000

26 November 2018
26 November 2018
26 November 2018

03 January 2019
24 January 2019

Total options granted

935, 207
750, 000
27, 285, 515

76

Up to 3 years
Up to 4 years

finnCap Group pic

Annual Report and FinancialStatements 2019

The options outstanding at 31 March 2019 had a weighted average exercise price of £0. 132, and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 4. 6 years. The aggregate of the estimated fair values

ofthe options granted on those dates is £703,514. The inputs into the Black-Scholesmodel are as
follows:

2019
Weighted average share price
Weighted average exercise price
Expectedvolatility
Expected life

28.0p
13. 0p
33. 8%
Up to 7 years

Risk-free rate

1. 7%
5.0%

Expected dividend yield

Expectedvolatility wasdetermined by calculatingthe historicalvolatility of a basketof listed
competitor companies' share prices over the previous year.

TheGroup recognisedtotal expensesof£99,977 relatedto equity-settledshare-basedpayment
transactions in the period.

Certain employees of Group, including key management personnel, have provided the Employee
Benefit Trust with 6, 100, 901 call options for shares in the finnCap Group pic. Separate but related,
options have been provided by the Employee Benefit Trust to other employees of the Group. As
these options will effectively besettled betweenemployees ofthe Group, there have not been
included in the share options disclosed above.
26. Commitments and contingencies
Land and

Land and

buildings

buildings
2018
£'000

2019
£'000

Within one year
In two to five years
After five years
Total

750
251

385

1,001

899

514

The Group operatesfrom two offices underoperating lease agreementswith breakclauses.The
original lease terms were between 5 and 10 years. One lease will expire and the Board expects to
activate the break clause on the other lease with two years.
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27. Dividends
Period ended

Year ended

31 March 2019
£'000

30 April 2018
£'000

1, 635

1, 051

1.38p

0. 91p

Dividends proposed and paid during the year
Dividends per share
Dividends are declared at the discretion of the Board.

28. Related party transactions

Transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties,
have been eliminated on consolidation and, in accordance with IAS 24, are not discussed in this note.

Duringthe period the Companycharged its subsidiarymanagementfees of £767, 652.Theamounts
due to subsidiaries are shown on note 21.

The remuneration of key management personnel and their interests in the shares and options of the
Company are disclosed in the Remuneration Report on page 25.
There are no outstanding balances with key management personnel at the balance sheet date.

During the period, consideration of £2, 766, 619 and 18,893, 753 shares and £542, 682 and 3, 706, 074
shares was paid to HD Leigh and JNDStelzer, directors of the Company during the period,
respectively in relation to the acquisition of Cavendish Corporate Finance (UK) Limited and
Cavendish Corporate Finance LLP
29. Post balance sheet events

An interim dividendof0.355ppersharewasproposed bythe Directorsattheirmeetingon 8thJuly
2019. Thesefinancialstatements do not reflect this dividend payable.
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